

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Sanchez-Robielos, Maria Teresa

## Working Paper Rural Labor and Rural Non-Agricultural Activities in the Philippines

PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 1994-11

**Provided in Cooperation with:** Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Philippines

*Suggested Citation:* Sanchez-Robielos, Maria Teresa (1994) : Rural Labor and Rural Non-Agricultural Activities in the Philippines, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 1994-11, Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Makati City

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/187261

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



## WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



## Rural Labor and Rural Nonagricultural Activities in the Philippines

Ma. Teresa C. Sanchez DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES NO. 94-11

The PIDS Discussion Paper Series constitutes studies that are preliminary and subject to further revisions. They are being circulated in a limited number of copies only for purposes of soliciting comments and suggestions for further refinements. The studies under the Series are unedited and unreviewed.

The views and opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the Institute.

Not for quotation without permission from the author(s) and the Institute.



## August 1994

For comments, suggestions or further inquiries please contact:

The Research Information Staff, Philippine Institute for Development Studies

3rd Floor, NEDA sa Makati Building, 106 Amorsolo Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City, Philippines Tel Nos: 8924059 and 8935705; Fax No: 8939589; E-mail: publications@pidsnet.pids.gov.ph

Or visit our website at http://www.pids.gov.ph

## Philippine Institute for Development Studies

## Rural Labor and Rural Non-agricultural Activities in the Philippines

#### Ma. Teresa C. Sanchez

#### DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES NO. 94-11

The PIDS Discussion Paper Series constitutes studies that are preliminary and subject to further revisions. They are being circulated in a limited number of copies only for purposes of soliciting comments and suggestions for further refinements. The studies under the Series are unedited and unreviewed.

The views and opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the Institute.

Not for quotation without permission from the author(s) and the Institute.



#### August 1994

For comments, suggestions or further inquiries please contact: Dr. Marlo B. Lamberte, Philippine Institute for Development Studies 3rd Floor, NEDA sa Makati Building, 106 Amorsolo Street, Legaspi Village, Makati 1229, Metro Manila, Philippines Tel No: 8106261; Fax No: (632) 8161091

## RURAL LABOR AND RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES IN THE PHILIPPINES

## MARIA TERESA C. SANCHEZ Philippine Institute for Development Studies

The paper is part of the Dynamics of Rural Development (DRD) Project of the Philippine Institute for Development Studies.

#### OUTLINE

#### COVER PAGE

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

- background
- objectives of the study
- significance
- parts of the paper

#### 2. OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

- 2.1 Rural Nonagricultural Activities: Nature, Growth and Composition
- 2.2 Determinants of Rural Nonagricultural Activities and the Linkages of Rural Nonagricultural Activities with Agriculture and Other Sectors
- 2.3 Studies on Labor Demand, Supply, and the Labor Market

#### 3. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND EMPIRICAL MODEL IN THE ANALYSIS OF RURAL HOUSEHOLD LABOR SUPPLY BEHAVIOR

- 3.1 Theoretical Framework
- 3.2 Empirical Model and Methodology
- 3.3 Model Specification
  - 3.3.1 Probit Analysis of Rural Labor Force Activity
  - 3.3.2 Wage Equation
  - 3.3.3 Labor Supply Equation

#### 4. DATA SOURCES

- 4.1 Sources of Data
- 4.2 The Survey
  - 4.2.1 Scope of the Survey
  - 4.2.2 Problems and Limitations

#### 5. THE RURAL LABOR IN THE PHILIPPINES

- 5.1 The Rural Labor Force
- 5.2 Rural Employment Structure
  - 5.2.1 Sectoral Composition of the Rural Employment
  - 5.2.2 Occupational Structure of Rural Employment

- 5.2.3 Rural Employment by Class of Worker
- 5.2.4 Gender and Age Composition of Rural Employment
- 5.3 Agricultural Wages
- 5.4 Sources of Income in the Rural Sector
- 5.5 Determinats of the Growth of Rural Nonfarm Activities

#### 6. LABOR IN THE RURAL HOUSEHOLD ECONOMY: THE CASE STUDY OF ILOILO, NEGROS OCCIDENTAL, CEBU, AND BOHOL

- 6.1 Profile of Sample Provinces
- 6.2 Characteristics of Survey Rural Households
- 6.3 Rural Household Labor Use and Allocation
  - 6.3.1 Rural Employment by Sector
  - 6.3.2 Rural Employment by Industry
  - 6.3.3 Rural Employment by Occupational Group
  - 6.3.4 Rural Employment by Class of Worker
  - 6.3.5 Rural Employment in Primary and Secondary Occupations
- 6.4 Earnings of Rural Labor
- 6.5 Wage Labor in the Survey Provinces
- 6.6 Entrepreneurial Activities of Survey Households

#### 7. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

- Determinants of Work Participation and Labor Supply Decisions

#### 8. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction 1		
2. Overview of the Literature			
	<ul> <li>2.1 Rural Nonagricultural Activities: Nature, Growth, and Composition</li> <li>2.2 Determinants of Rural Nonagricultural Activities and the Linkages of Rural Nonagricultural Activities with Agriculture and Other Sectors</li></ul>		
	2.3 Studies on Labor Demand, Supply, and the Labor Market		
3.	Theoretical Framework and Empirical Model in the Analysis of Rural Household Labor Supply Behavior		
	3.1 Theoretical Framework.133.2 Empirical Model and Methodology.203.3 Model Specification.22		
	3.3.1 Probit Analysis of Rural Force Activity		
4.	Data Sources		
	<ul><li>4.1 Sources of Data</li><li>4.2 The Survey</li></ul>		
	<ul><li>4.2.1 Scope of the Survey</li><li>4.2.2 Problems and Limitations</li></ul>		
5.	The Rural Labor in the Philippines		
	5.1 The Rural Labor Force.315.2 The Rural Employment Structure.32		
	5.2.1Sectoral Composition of Rural Employment		
	<ul> <li>5.3 Agricultural Wages</li></ul>		

6.	Labor in the Rural Household Economy: The Case Study of Iloilo, Negros Occidental, Cebu, and Bohol		
	<ul> <li>6.1 Profile of Sample Provinces</li></ul>		
	<ul> <li>6.3.1 Rural Employment by Sector</li> <li>6.3.2 Rural Employment by Industry</li> <li>6.3.3 Rural Employment by Occupational Group</li> <li>6.3.4 Rural Employment by Class of Worker</li> <li>6.3.5 Rural Employment in Primary and Secondary Occupations</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>6.4 Earnings of Rural Labor</li></ul>		
7.	Empirical Results		
8.	Summary, Conclusions, and Policy Implications		
Bil	Bibliography		

#### LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

- TABLE 4.1:Distribution of Sample Households by Province, Municipality, and<br/>Barangay
- TABLE 5.1:Rural Population, 1970-1992
- TABLE 5.2:Rural Population 15 Years and Over, Labor Force Participation Rate by<br/>Age Group: 1980, 1985, and 1990
- TABLE 5.3:
   Rural Labor Force and Employment Indicators, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.4:Distribution of Rural Employment in Agricultural and Nonagricultural<br/>Sectors, 1971-1990
- TABLE 5.5:Distribution of Rural Employed Wage and Salary Workers in Agricultural<br/>and Nonagricultural Sectors, 1971-1990
- TABLE 5.6:Rural Employment by Sector and Industry, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.7:Rural Manufacturing Employment, 1971-1988
- TABLE 5.8:Rural Employment by Occupation, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.9:Rural Employment by Class of Workers, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.10:Distribution of Rural Employment in Agriculture and Nonagriculture by<br/>Class of Workers, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.11:Distribution and Percent Change in Rural Employment by Sector and<br/>Class of Workers, 1971-1990
- TABLE 5.12:Distribution of Rural Employment by Industry and Sex, 1975-1990
- TABLE 5.13:Distribution of Rural Employed Persons by Age Group, 1980-1990
- TABLE 5.14:Distribution of Families and Income in the Rural Sector by Main Source<br/>of Income, 1971, 1985, and 1988
- TABLE 5.15:Distribution of Income and Families in the Rural Sector by Main Source,1971, 1985, and 1988
- TABLE 5.16:
   Selected Characteristics of the Farm Sector, 1960-1991

- TABLE 5.17:Average Daily Wage Rates of Farm Workers Without Meals by Crop,<br/>1974-1989
- TABLE 5.18:Growth Rates of Real Agricultural Wages of Farm Workers Without<br/>Meals by Crop, 1974-1989
- TABLE 6.1:Profile of Sample Provinces
- TABLE 6.2:
   Characteristics of Sample Rural Households
- TABLE 6.3:Working Age Population by Sex
- TABLE 6.4:
   Work Patterns of Household Members
- TABLE 6.5:
   Distribution of Household Members Who Are Not Working
- TABLE 6.6:Distribution of Employed Household Members by Classification:<br/>Agriculture and Nonagriculture by Province
- TABLE 6.7:Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Industry Group<br/>by Province
- TABLE 6.8:Percent Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Industry<br/>Group by Province
- TABLE 6.9:Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Occupational<br/>Group by Sex
- TABLE 6.10:Percent Distribution of Employed Household Members by MajorOccupational Group by Sex
- TABLE 6.11:Distribution of Employed Household Members by Class of Worker by<br/>Province
- TABLE 6.12:Percent Distribution of Employed Household Members by Class of<br/>Workers by Province
- TABLE 6.13:Distribution of Household Members Who Worked During the Past Week<br/>by Primary Occupation and by Class of Worker: by Province
- TABLE 6.14:Distribution of Household members by Location Where Primary<br/>Occupation is Carried Out by Province
- TABLE 6.15:Average Weekly Wage/Salary of Employed Household Members by<br/>Primary Occupation and by Province

- TABLE 6.16:Distribution of employed Household Members with Secondary Occupation<br/>by Occupation and by Class of Worker: by Province
- TABLE 6.17:Average Weekly Wage/Salary of Employed Household Members in<br/>Secondary Occupation
- TABLE 6.18:Average Weekly Earnings of Workers in Agricultural and Nonagricultural<br/>Economic Activities by Province
- TABLE 6.19:Average Weekly Earnings of Workers in Nonagricultural Activities by<br/>Industry and Province
- TABLE 6.20:Wage Labor in Sample Provinces
- TABLE 6.21:Distribution of Household Members Who Worked as Wage/Salary<br/>Workers by Occupation and Province
- TABLE 6.22:Average Number of Hours Worked of Wage/Salary Workers by<br/>Occupation and Province
- TABLE 6.23:Average Weekly Amount Received of Wage/Salary Workers by<br/>Occupation and Province
- TABLE 6.24:Distribution of Household Members Engaged in Entrepreneurial Activities<br/>by Type of Activity
- TABLE 6.25:
   Employment in Household-Operated Economic Activity by Type of Labor
- TABLE 6.26:Employment in Household-Operated Economic Activity by Type of<br/>Activity and Type of Labor
- TABLE 6.27:Average Hours Worked Per Day in Household-Based Economic Activities<br/>by Type of Labor
- TABLE 6.28:
   Expenditure Pattern of Survey Households
- TABLE 7.1:Definition of Variables
- TABLE 7.2:
   Means and Standard Deviation of Major Variables
- TABLE 7.3:Probit Estimates: Rural Labor Force Participation in Nonagricultural<br/>Activities
- TABLE 7.4:
   Selectivity Corrected Wage Equations

- TABLE 7.5:
   Labor Supply Equations: Dependent Variable-HRWD
- TABLE 7.6:
   Labor Supply Equations: Dependent Variable-WKWD

#### FIGURES -

- FIGURE 5.1: Income Sources of Rural Households
- FIGURE 6.1: Types of Labor in Income-Generating Activities

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The agricultural sector remains to play an important role in the development process of the country. However, the employment and income generation in the sector has been limited by the rapid growth of the rural population and the labor force. On the other hand, the urban sector-based industries also failed to provide the employment necessary to absorb the increasing rural labor force. These had led to the growing interest on the extent by which the rural sector can create employment outside the agricultural sector. Rural households redirect the allocation of their labor resources in response to the changing rural, agricultural, and macroeconomic environment.

The study examines the different aspects of labor in the rural household economy. It identifies the factors that significantly determine the rural households' labor allocation decisions. Moreover, it also looks at how the availability and growth of rural nonagricultural employment opportunities affect the rural households' labor allocation decisions and the rural labor markets particularly for hired labor. The paper also analyzes and examines rural nonagricultural households' pattern of labor allocation and their sources of income as well as the structure of employment. It also makes use of labor market indicators to trace the labor market links between the agricultural and rural nonagricultural sectors.

The study utilizes two data sets. The secondary data from the Integrated Survey of Households (ISH) and the Family Income and Expenditures Survey (FIES) of the National Statistics Office (NSO) provide aggregate rural labor force, employment, and income statistics. The data from these sources are used to describe and analyze the trends and changes in the composition of rural labor force, employment, and income in the country overtime. On the other hand, the micro-level data collected from the primary survey of households conducted for the Dynamics of Rural Development (DRD) Project in 1992 are utilized to provide information about labor allocation decisions as well as the importance and magnitude of the rural nonfarm employment. The micro-level data are examined to verify the general findings from the aggregate data. The household survey generated information about the supply side of the rural labor particularly on the availability of rural labor for farm and nonfarm work, the different categories of labor, and other characteristics of rural labor. The survey covered rural barangays in the provinces of Iloilo, Negros Occidental, Cebu, and Bohol. The survey areas were selected purposively on the basis of agricultural productivity, accessibility to industrial areas, presence and diversity of rural nonfarm enterprises, and proximity to nonfarm sources of employment. The conclusions derived from the observations based on the micro-level data are specific to the areas studied.

The rural nonagricultural sector has become an important component of the rural economy in terms of employment and income generation. The rural nonagricultural sector has provided employment to a significant proportion of excess labor in the rural sector. Observations from the aggregate and micro-level data indicate a considerably high proportion of rural labor force in nonagricultural activities but a lower proportion in rural manufacturing. The case study using micro-level data shows that retail trade and service activities which cater largely to local consumer demand dominate the rural nonagricultural sectors of the survey provinces. To explore the full potential of the linkages between the agricultural and the rural nonagricultural sectors, policies and programs supporting the rural nonagricultural sector particularly rural manufacturing should be complemented with policies that will foster the growth of productivity and incomes in the agricultural sector.

The growth of employment in rural nonagricultural activities is not influenced so much by demand factors such as the availability of more productive nonagricultural activities. Employment in rural nonagricultural activities appears to be supply determined or characterized by the dominance of the push factors like limited access to agricultural productive resources, increasing rural labor force, increasing rural unemployment and underemployment, and widespread rural poverty.

In the more developed provinces like Cebu, the accessibility and proximity of rural households to urban centers have a significant direct employment effect on the rural workers. This type of rural-urban labor market link will be strengthened by better infrastructure and transportation facilities. Furthermore, the empirical model reveals that work location is a significant factor affecting wage and labor supplied to nonagricultural activities in the rural areas of the survey provinces. This indicates that the development of rural infrastructure in these areas will generate opportunities for nonagricultural employment by improving rural workers' mobility. Moreover, the rural households' labor supply decisions are strongly but negatively influenced by non-labor income and opportunities for self-employment in household-operated nonagricultural enterprises. Human capital variables like education and experience have insignificant effects on households' labor supply decisions.

The analysis of the aggregate rural employment and income data yields the following observations. The rural population has been continuously increasing but at declining rates. Likewise, the share of the rural population to the total population has also been declining through the years. The rural labor force and rural labor force participation rate rose significantly during 1975-1990. This has been attributed to the growth of the labor force and to the rise in the participation of women. Rural employment increased in absolute terms but its proportion to total rural labor force declined. Rural unemployment and underemployment rose and remained at high levels in 1990. Labor underutilization in the rural sector reflects in part the nature of farm activities where part-time work is common and the pattern of labor use is affected by seasonality.

Although the agricultural sector remained as the major employer of the rural work force, the sector's employment share to the total rural employment has been declining. Correspondingly, the employment in the nonagricultural sector has been increasing. Employment in the rural nonagricultural sector expanded but rural manufacturing employment remained low. The growth of employment in the rural nonagricultural sector has been spurred by the growth of the service sector employment. Service sector employment grew rapidly relative to other sectors.

Own-account workers comprise the largest proportion of employed in the rural sector. This reflects the importance of self-owned and household-based enterprises as a source of employment and income in the rural areas. The employment of wage and salary workers in the rural sector increased. Correspondingly, the proportion of unpaid family workers declined. The decline resulted from the shift of the rural workforce towards nonagricultural pursuits and the rise in the use of hired workers in farms.

Aside from being a source of employment, evidences show that rural nonagricultural activities are also an important source of income of the rural households. Evidences from the aggregate data provide strong indications that the growth of the rural nonagricultural sector in terms of employment and income is a result of stronger push factors. The growing rural labor force have pushed people into nonagricultural activities with varying potential for income generation. The shift to nonagricultural activities in the rural sector can be regarded more as a response to the diminishing employment opportunities in the agricultural sector and to the pressure from increased rural poverty.

The analysis of the micro-level data from the household survey yields the following observations. Majority of the sample rural households are engaged in nonagricultural activities. Moreover, a clear gender division of labor exists in the rural sector. The agricultural sector is male dominated while the female workers participate more in nonagricultural activities. Rural manufacturing, and wholesale and retail trade activities are of special importance to women. Rural manufacturing activities include food processing, handicraft making, weaving, basketry, and other cottage industries. On the other hand, trading activities include retail trade in small stores and food vending. Work location is an important factor influencing rural women's participation in income-generating nonagricultural activities. Evidence shows that there is a strong preference for work which can done within the household or neighborhood. In Negros Occidental and Cebu for instance, the rising incidence of sub-contracting arrangements have encouraged more women to participate in manufacturing activities.

Sales and service activities dominate as primary occupations in the sample areas. However, workers in production activities are relatively large in Iloilo and Cebu. The location where primary occupation is carried out reflects the role of infrastructure and proximity of rural villages to more urbanized towns. The presence of more developed infrastructure like roads and bridges, the availability of transportation facilities, and the proximity of rural villages to urban centers increase the access of rural residents to nonagricultural job opportunities. These factors also facilitate the shift from agriculture to nonagricultural occupations without changing residences. The data show that Cebu has the highest proportion of workers from the rural areas whose primary occupations are carried out in municipalities outside the place of residence. The presence of more developed infrastructure and the availability of transportation in the province increased the workers' mobility and enabled them to take jobs outside the villages. On the other hand, Bohol, considered the least "urbanized" among the sample provinces has a very high proportion of workers working in own home and immediate neighborhood.

On the average, the earnings generated by rural households from nonagricultural work exceed those generated from agricultural activities. Furthermore, the wage differentials between the rural nonagricultural and agricultural occupations in the survey areas are large. This indicates the existence of labor market link between the agricultural and rural nonagricultural sectors. It appears that the labor market outcomes in the agricultural sector in the form of low wages and limited labor absorption have significantly influenced the existing structure of labor markets in the nonagricultural sector. A considerable number of rural households in the sample areas earn income by hiring out labor. Among the sample provinces, the proportion of wage labor ranges from 25 to 55 percent. The presence of a large proportion of wage workers in the survey areas supports the view that a wage labor market exists in the rural sector of the sample provinces. On the average, the hired workers in the nonagricultural occupations worked longer hours and received higher wages relative to those in the agricultural occupations. A major factor which determined the supply of hired labor in the rural nonfarm sector is the distribution of productive assets. The distribution of landless households in the survey areas reveals that the provinces with large proportion of landless households have a relatively high proportion of hired workers.

Evidences also show that a significant proportion of rural households in the sample areas are engaged as owners and operators of farm and nonfarm enterprises. Moreover, these household-based enterprises have a considerable direct employment effect.

The results of the empirical model using the micro-level data are as follows. The probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural economic activities is significantly affected by the ownership of household-operated enterprises, non-labor income, and work location. The human capital and demographic variables are insignificant in explaining the probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities. Wages are significantly affected by the age variable which serve as proxy for years of work experience. However, the education dummy variables have insignificant impact on wages. This may imply low private returns to education in the rural areas. The rural labor supplied to nonagricultural activities in terms of hours of work is significantly affected by non-labor income. This reflects the dominance of the income effect and confirms the hypothesis that leisure is a normal good. The predicted wage has a positive and significant effect on hours of work. The rural labor supply in terms of work hours is inelastic with respect to wages. The results using number of work weeks as dependent variable are similar to those using work hours. However, the supply response of rural labor is weaker in terms of work weeks. Work week is less responsive to wage rates relative to hours of work.

Over the years, the rural nonagricultural activities have become important components of the rural economy in terms of employment and income generation. The rural nonagricultural sector has provided employment to a significant proportion of excess labor in the rural sector. Observations from the aggregate and micro-level survey data indicate a considerably high proportion of rural labor force in nonagricultural activities but a lower proportion in rural manufacturing. The case study using the micro-level data shows that retail trade and service activities which cater largely to local consumer demand dominate the rural nonagricultural sectors of the survey provinces. To explore the full potential of the linkages between the agricultural and the rural nonagricultural sectors, policies and programs supporting the rural nonagricultural sector particularly rural manufacturing should be complemented with policies that will foster the growth of productivity and incomes in the agricultural sector.

The growth of employment in rural nonagricultural activities is not influenced much by demand factors such as the availability of more productive nonagricultural activities. Employment in rural nonagricultural activities appears to be supply determined or characterized by the dominance of the push factors like limited access to agricultural productive resources,

increasing rural labor force, increasing rural unemployment and underemployment, and widespread rural poverty.

In the more developed provinces like Cebu, the accessibility and proximity of rural households to urban centers have a significant direct employment effect on the rural workers. This type of rural-urban labor market link will be strengthened by better infrastructure and transportation facilities. Moreover, the empirical model reveals that work location is a significant factor affecting wage and labor supply in the rural areas of the survey provinces. This indicates that the development of rural infrastructure in these areas will generate opportunities for nonagricultural employment by improving rural workers' mobility.

The analysis of the micro-level data reveal that the rural households' labor supply decisions are strongly but negatively influenced by non-labor income and opportunities for self-employment in household-operated nonagricultural enterprises. Policies that will provide incentives to these household-operated economic activities will not only ease the employment problem in the survey provinces but will also transform these activities into more dynamic ones. This will pave the way for rural industrialization in the areas.

Female labor supply responds strongly to demographic variables particularly the presence of young children in the household. Human capital variables like education do not have significant effects on rural labor supply. This may indicate that labor market opportunities in the rural nonagricultural sector of the survey areas require less education.

#### RURAL LABOR AND RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES IN THE PHILIPPINES<sup>1</sup>

#### Maria Teresa C. Sanchez<sup>2</sup>

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The agricultural sector remains to play an important role in the development process of the country. From 1970-80, the agricultural gross value added grew at an average annual rate of 4.8 percent. Recent data show that a large proportion of the rural population is employed and derives income primarily from the agricultural sector. However, the employment and income generation in the agricultural sector has been limited by the rapid growth of the rural population and the labor force. The urban sector-based industries also failed to provide the employment opportunities necessary to absorb the increasing rural labor force. These had led to the growing interest on the extent by which the rural sector can create employment outside the agricultural sector. The rural nonagricultural sector becomes a vital component of the rural economy as stronger demand for nonagricultural employment in the rural sector is generated.

Nonagricultural activities arise from the rural households' search for employment and income generating opportunities that can be combined with agricultural work against the background of low labor absorption, diminishing productivity, seasonal unemployment, underemployment, and poverty in the agricultural sector. Rural households redirect the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The paper is a component of the Dynamics of Rural Development Project of PIDS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Research Associate, Philippine Institute for Development Studies.

allocation of their labor resources in response to the changing rural and agricultural environment. The emergence, availability, and growth of nonagricultural employment opportunities may have significant influence on the allocation decisions of rural households. On the supply side, the continuing growth of the rural labor force may result to pressure on the rural nonagricultural labor markets.

The study concerning rural labor aims to determine the role that rural labor markets play in the development process as the rural nonagricultural sector grows. In particular, it examines the different aspects of labor in the rural household economy. It attempts to answer the following questions: What are the factors that significantly determine the rural households' labor allocation decisions? How does the availability and growth of rural nonagricultural employment opportunities affect the rural households' labor allocation decisions and the rural labor markets particularly the market for hired labor?

Majority of the existing studies are concentrated on the farm households while the rural nonagricultural households received little attention. The paper attempts to analyze and examine the rural nonagricultural households' pattern of labor allocation and their sources of income as well as the structure of employment. It also attempts to present an overview of the rural nonagricultural sector and examines its importance, composition and location. The paper also aims to test the labor market links between the agricultural and rural nonagricultural sectors. Answers to the aforementioned questions and the observations relating to rural labor are relevant in designing policies and programs that may directly or indirectly influence the growth and development of the rural nonagricultural sector, the rural sector, and the economy as a whole.

2

The paper is organized as follows. The next section discusses the literature on rural labor, rural nonagricultural activities, and rural development. The existing literature on rural nonagricultural activities focus on their nature, growth, composition, their role in the development process, and their linkages with agriculture. Section three presents the theoretical framework and empirical model used in the analysis of rural household labor supply behavior. Section four focuses on the sources of data utilized in the study as well as the description of the household survey data including the limitations. Section five presents an overview of the rural labor in the Philippines focusing on the trends and structure of the rural labor force, employment, and income. Section six presents the findings of the case study of selected provinces in the Visayas. Section seven presents the empirical results, and finally, the last section gives the summary, conclusions, and policy implications of the study.

3

#### 2. OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

# 2.1. RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES: NATURE, GROWTH AND COMPOSITION

The existing body of literature which explains the relationship between nonagricultural economic activities and economic growth is dominated by the pioneering work of Hymer and Resnick (1969). Hymer and Resnick constructed an extended model of an agrarian economy with the inclusion of nonagricultural activities (Z-activities). The model describes the Z-goods sector as one which is dominated by home manufacturing and is an inferior source of income. The model predicts that Z-activities will decline with agricultural development. Such hypothesis is supported by historical evidence from Burma, Philippines, and Thailand for the period 1870 to 1938. Bautista (1971) extended the Hymer-Resnick model into a small open economy. He pointed out that the inferiority of the Z-goods is an insufficient cause of the eventual decline of the sector. Fabella (1985), on the other hand, stressed that the rise in the manufacturing sector and the decline in Z-goods sector in the rural economy are due to the specialization in commodities where the rural economy has some comparative advantage, not on the inferiority of the Z-goods sector.

Choe (1985) explains the structural significance of rural nonagricultural activities in the Asian monsoon economy in the macro perspective of agricultural and economic development. The study introduced the M-cycle hypothesis wherein the M-cycle pertains to the general phenomenon of cyclically repeating peak and slack seasons in agricultural labor utilization in the monsoon agriculture. The study put forward two empirical propositions that have important implications for the development of nonfarm and off-farm employment. (Choe, 1985:5-6)

- a) Given an M-cycle dominated agriculture in the monsoon economy and the limited urban-industrial labor absorption capacity, it is not possible to increase labor productivity of farmers without increasing the productive use of labor during the slack season through nonfarm/off-farm activities and diversification of agriculture.
- b) The reduction of rural agricultural labor results in labor shortage during the peak seasons with the underemployed idle labor in the slack season. This implies the impossibility of reducing agricultural labor without limitation and without raising the real farm wages, provided there is no structural change in the intensity of the M-cycle.

Empirical studies such as those conducted by Anderson and Leiserson (1978, 1980); Oshima (1984, 1986); Chinn (1979); Ho (1979); Chuta and Leidholm (1979); Liedholm (1988); Ranis, Stewart and Reyes (1989); Hazell and Haggblade (1990); Reyes (1991) reveal an increasing percentage of the rural labor force primarily engaged in nonagricultural work in developing countries. The findings attest to a rising share of the rural labor force engaged in nonagricultural work partly as a result of slow labor absorption in agriculture. On the other hand, it may partly be a result of the increasing division between farm and nonfarm work in the rural areas -- something which is said to be induced by the high elasticities of demand for nonfood goods and services with respect to changes in rural incomes and agricultural output. Moreover, the availability of hired labor which allows substitution for family labor, and the increasing range and declining costs of labor saving innovations in agriculture enhance the possibilities for off-farm and nonfarm work (Shand, 1986).

Estimates of the proportion of the rural labor force with primary employment in the nonagricultural sector for 15 developing countries ranged from 20 percent to 30 percent

(Anderson and Leiserson, 1980). In addition, other studies estimate the share of rural nonagricultural labor to total rural labor force at 25 percent and 35 percent (Liedholm, 1988), about 20 percent for India (Hazell, 1990), 25.4 percent for the Philippines in 1982 (Fabella, 1985), 29.1 percent for Bangladesh in 1981 (Ahmad and Ahmed, 1985), 27.9 percent for Korea in 1980 (Choe, 1985), and 31.8 percent for Pakistan in 1980 (Chaudhry, 1985). In a study of rural industrialization in the Philippines, Fabella (1985) found that the share of rural nonagricultural activities in total rural employment for both sexes is around 30 percent in the The share of male's rural nonagricultural employment to total rural period 1977-1982. employment is found to be between the range of 22.5 percent to 24.7 percent during the same period. However, the share of female's rural nonagricultural employment to total rural employment is found to be twice that of the males. The study also reveals that the share of rural nonagricultural activities of wage and salary workers representing the formal sector of the labor market in the rural areas increased from 58.6 percent in 1977 to 69.5 percent in 1982. Moreover, that of the own-account workers which are considered as representative of the rural informal sector rose slightly from 19.4 percent in 1977 to 20.2 percent in 1982. Rural nonagricultural activities also provide secondary employment to rural workers. According to Anderson and Leiserson (1980), a large proportion of small and landless farmers engage in nonagricultural activities during the slack season. This observation indicates that rural nonagricultural activities are important as a secondary source of employment for small and landless farmers. It has also been observed that farm and rural nonfarm employment varies countercyclically.

6

Anderson and Leiserson (1980) observed that nonagricultural activities in rural areas are a primary source not only of employment but also of income for approximately one-quarter of the rural labor force in most developing countries, and a significant source of secondary income in the slack seasons for the small and landless farmers. Examination of incomes data in Japan, Korea, and Taiwan by Oshima (1984) reveals that off-farm income in both levels and shares increased as these countries underwent various stages of development. Country studies in Mukhopadhyay and Lim (1985) and Shand (1986) contribute a significant body of information on the extent of dependence of rural households on rural nonagricultural activities as sources of income. Ahmad and Ahmed (1985) show that about 26 percent of the rural labor force in Bangladesh derive income from rural nonagricultural activities. In India, 46 percent of self-employed households in the rural areas depend totally on rural nonagricultural activities as the only source of income (Rao, 1985). In the Philippines, it has been observed that around 31.4 percent of total family income of agricultural households and 81 percent of total family income of rural nonagricultural households are contributed by rural nonagricultural activities (Fabella, 1985). In 1971, rural nonagricultural activities accounted for 55 percent of total income of rural households in the Philippines (Fabella, 1985).

From a set of micro data in the Philippines (Laguna survey), Reyes (1991) observed that the proportion of time that rural household members spend on nonagricultural activities has significantly increased. Moreover, nonagricultural income was found to have risen from 8 percent in 1974 to 36 percent in 1987. The bulk of the increase in nonagricultural income was shared proportionately by small and landless farmers. According to Reyes, the above observations suggest that nonagricultural income has an equalizing effect on income distribution and that its growth has helped offset the growing imbalance in agricultural income.

There is an ample evidence which highlights the role of nonagricultural income in reducing inequality and smoothing rural household income over time. It was observed that since agricultural and nonagricultural activities tend to move in opposite directions over the year, income from nonagricultural sources appears to complement the pattern of net agricultural income received.

On the sectoral composition, Chuta and Leidholm (1979) contend that the most important components of rural nonagricultural activities are manufacturing, services, and commerce activities. Mukhopadhyay and Lim (1985), meanwhile, consider manufacturing, construction, trade and commerce, and services as the major components of rural nonagricultural activities. Manufacturing is observed to be the most important sector in almost all developing countries in Asia except the Philippines and Malaysia. Hazell (1990) observes that the dominant rural nonagricultural activities in India are commerce, service, and small-scale manufacturing that cater largely to agricultural and rural consumer demands. In general, the compositional pattern of rural nonagricultural employment in developing countries appears to be between 20 percent and 30 percent in manufacturing; 20 percent and 35 percent in services including government services; 15 percent and 30 percent in commerce; 5 percent and 15 percent in construction; 5 percent in transport; and the rest in utilities and other activities (Anderson and Leiserson, 1980).

#### 2.2 DETERMINANTS OF RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES AND LINKAGES OF RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES WITH AGRICULTURE AND OTHER SECTORS

The primary sources of demand for rural nonagricultural goods and services are those stemming from rural households and/or enterprises. The rural households' demand for consumer goods tends to be quantitatively the most significant, followed typically by their demand for intermediate goods and services that arise from backward and forward linkages.

The first economists to explore the potential linkages between agricultural and nonagricultural sectors were Hirschman (1958), Johnston and Mellor (1961) and Mellor (1976). Hirschman (1958) argued that weak linkages exist between agriculture and other sectors including rural nonagricultural activities. Mellor (1976) added that such linkages of agriculture with other sectors are essential to rural-led growth strategy. However, according to Shand (1986), these studies lacked the detailed knowledge of the characteristics of these linkages, and the explanation on how the linkages had developed. An understanding of how rural nonagricultural activities are linked not only with agriculture but also with other sectors of the economy is an important issue for policy. Likewise, it is also relevant for policy makers to determine how rural nonagricultural activities will react to changes elsewhere in the system.

Empirical evidence on the linkages between farm and rural nonfarm enterprises, and the strength of these linkages in the developing countries is still sparse. One of the few studies to examining these linkages was conducted by Gibb (1974). He found that each one-percent increase in agricultural income in the Nueva Ecija province in the Philippines generated a 1-2 percent increase in employment in most sectors of the local nonfarm economy from 1967-1971.

Ranis et al. (1990) observed that the linkage effects from additional agricultural output are very substantial, even as policies are not conducive to promoting them.

The study by Fabella (1985) revealed notable features of the linkage between agricultural and rural nonagricultural activities. It was observed that manufacturing, construction, commerce, and transport activities of male workers engaged in nonagricultural pursuits are cyclically linked with farm activities, while government and domestic services are countercyclical. It was also observed that female labor is always countercyclical or neutral to the cycles of farm operations. This indicates the absence of linkages between farm and nonfarm activities that most women engaged in rural Philippines.

#### **Consumption and Production Linkages**

Empirical evidence also shows that the largest and best documented linkage from agriculture to rural nonfarm activities is the one which arises from the rural households' expenditures on consumer goods and services produced by rural nonfarm enterprises. Consumption linkages are particularly important and agriculture is a vital element given the fact that farmers typically constitute the largest rural consumer group. The expansion of employment in absolute terms is found to be invariably the highest in consumption related activities (Liedholm, 1990). In the Philippines, rural nonagricultural employment is dominated by consumption linkage activities evidenced by the large shares of trade and services to total rural nonagricultural employment (Ranis et al., 1990).

The other important source of demand for rural nonfarm goods and services stems from their backward and forward linkages with agriculture and other sectors of the economy. Observations from developing countries' experiences reveal that among production-related activities, forward linkages are of much greater significance for absolute employment and employment expansion than backward linkages.

The various studies indicate a strong linkage between agriculture and nonagricultural sectors of the economy. Consumption linkage is found to be the strongest and largest linkage from agriculture to rural nonfarm activities. Because of the strong linkages between agriculture and rural nonfarm activities, an important policy implication points to the possible impact of agricultural policies on the growth of the rural nonfarm sector.

## 2.3 STUDIES ON LABOR DEMAND, SUPPLY, AND THE LABOR MARKET

The neoclassical labor market theory predicts that agricultural labor demand is primarily affected by changes in wage, farmer's output supply, agriculture-related variables such as size of farm, proportion of land irrigated, multiple-cropping intensity, seasonality, bullock labor, capital used, and high-yielding variety, and human capital variables like age, education, and work experience. It also assumes that a farmer's output supply is responsive to prices and opportunities for technological innovation. Assuming that farmers exhibit rational behavior by being cost- and profit-conscious, agricultural labor demand becomes highly responsive to changes in wage rates and output prices (Evenson and Binswanger, 1984).

A few attempts have been made to test empirically the various models formulated to describe household labor supply behavior in the context of rural labor market in developing countries. Most of these studies are based on the standard neoclassical competitive framework. Developments in the analysis of household labor supply and demand have contributed to a better understanding of labor markets. The household labor model assumes that individuals in the rural

sector exhibit economically rational behavior in making labor allocation decisions given certain constraints. Household labor is allocated among on-farm agricultural production, household production activities, off-farm and nonfarm work, and leisure. The household maximizes its utility subject to human time, income, and farm production (Huffman, 1980). Maximum household income is obtained when the marginal utility from these four activities are equal.

Empirical evidence from various studies confirms the theoretical relationship between farm wage and agricultural labor demand. Farm wage rate has a negative effect on agricultural labor demand but the effect was found to be insignificant in some studies. Factors like size of farm, proportion of land irrigated, multiple cropping intensity, and seasonality positively affect labor demand in agriculture. Agricultural labor supply responds favorably to changes in farm wage. Land reform was found to have a positive effect on rural wages and to have benefitted the landless; meanwhile, education of farmers and agricultural extension were found to have a strong positive effect on off-farm and nonfarm labor supply. Generally, the empirical results from labor market studies show the importance of rural nonfarm variables in influencing the demand and supply of farm labor. It was found that the most influential factor that affects labor demand and supply has been the wage rate in nonfarm activities.

#### 3. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND EMPIRICAL MODEL IN THE ANALYSIS OF RURAL HOUSEHOLD LABOR SUPPLY BEHAVIOR

#### **3.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK**

This section focuses on the theoretical framework for analyzing the determinants of rural labor supply. The neoclassical labor supply model is modified to consider the household members' options of participating as wage and salary workers in the rural nonagricultural sector. Following Huffman (1980), the rural household members' labor supply decisions are perceived as the outcome of the utility maximization of the household subject to income, farm production, and time constraints.

#### **Utility Function:**

(3.1.1)

U = u(L, G; Z)

$$(U_i = \frac{\partial U}{\partial i} > 0, \quad i = L, G)$$

where:

L = vector of household members' leisure

G = vector of purchased goods

Z = vector of factors exogenous to current household consumption decisions like the household members' age, education, work experience

#### **Constraints on Resources:**

#### **Time Endowment:**

The first constraint is human time wherein the vector of time endowments of household members is divided among the following activities: farm work, nonfarm work, and leisure.

(3.1.2)

 $T = T_F + T_{NF} + L$ 

where:

T =vector of total time endowment of household members

 $T_F$  = household members' time allocated to farm work

 $T_{NF}$  = household members' time allocated to nonfarm work

#### **Household Income:**

The second constraint is household income. Household income is composed of income received from members' nonfarm work at given wage rates, net farm income and other household income.

(3.1.3)

$$W_{NF}T_{NF} + PQ - W_{T}I + V = P_{G}G$$

where:

 $W_{NF}T_{NF}$  = household income received from members' nonfarm work at wage rates (PQ - W<sub>1</sub>I) = net farm income where:

Р	=	price of farm output
Q	=	farm output
W <sub>I</sub> I	=	total variable cost of farm output
Pg	=	price vector for purchased goods
v	=	households' income from other sources

#### Farm Production Function:

The third constraint involves the production of farm output which restricts the potential size of the household's budget.

-

(3.1.4)

$$Q = F (T_F, I; H)$$

$$f_{I} = \frac{\partial Q}{\partial I} > 0$$

$$f_T = \frac{\partial Q}{\partial T_F} > 0$$

where:

 $T_F =$  vector of household members' farm labor inputs

I = vector of variable purchased inputs

H = vector of inputs that affect production (demographic and other characteristics)

The standard utility maximization problem is given as

$$Max \ U = u(L, G; Z)$$

*.*-

-

s.t.

$$T = T_F + T_{NF} + L$$

$$W_{NF}T_{NF} + PQ - W_{I}I + V = P_{G}G$$

$$Q = F(T_F, I, H)$$

Lagrangian Function:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L} &= u(L,G;Z) + \gamma (T-T_F - T_{NF} - L) \\ &+ \lambda (W_{NF}T_{NF} + PQ - W_II + V - P_GG) \\ &+ \delta [-Q + F(T_F, I; H)] \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}}{\partial T_F} = -\gamma + \delta f_{TF} = 0$$

.

(3.1.6.b)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial I} = -\lambda W_I + \delta f_I = 0$$

(3.1.6.c)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial Q} = \lambda P - \delta = 0$$

(3.1.6.d)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial L} = U_L - \gamma = 0$$

(3.1.6.e)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{G}}{\partial G} = U_G - \lambda P_G = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial T_{NF}} = -\gamma + \lambda W_{NF} = 0$$

(3.1.6.g)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}}{\partial \lambda} = W_{NF}T_{NF} + PQ - W_{I}I + V - P_{G}G = 0$$

(3.1.6.h)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \gamma} = T - \dot{T}_F - T_{NF} - L = 0$$

(3.1.6.i)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \delta} = Q - F(T_F, I; H) = 0$$

Solving the FOCs yields the leisure demand (3.1.7) and labor demand for farm production (3.1.8) equations as functions of the exogenous variables.

(3.1.7)

$$L^* = dL (W_{NF}, P_G, P, W_I, V, Z, H, T)$$

$$T_F^* = d_{TF} (W_{NF}, W_I, P, H)$$

4--

.

where:

$$\begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial T_F^*}{\partial W_{NF}} & < & 0\\ \frac{\partial T_F^*}{\partial P} & > & 0 \end{array}$$

From equation (3.1.2), the amount of time devoted to nonfarm work is (3.1.9)

$$T_{NF} = T - L - T_F$$

Thus, substituting equations (3.1.7) and (3.1.8) into equation (3.1.9) yields the non-farm labor supply functions.

$$T_{NF}^{*} = T - L^{*} - T_{F}^{*}$$
  
$$T_{NF}^{*} = T - d_{L}^{*} (W_{NF}, P_{G}, P, W_{I}, V, Z, H, T)$$
  
$$- d_{TF} (W_{NF}, W_{I}, P, H)$$
(3.1.10)

$$T_{NF}^{*} = S_{NF} (W_{NF}, P_{G}, P, W_{I}, V, Z, H, T) \geq 0$$

3.4

The rural nonfarm labor supply is a function of rural nonfarm wage, prices of purchased goods, price of farm output, prices of other variable inputs, household income from other sources, factors exogenous to current consumption decisions (e.g., household members' age, education, and work experience), demographic and other household characteristics, and total time endowments of the household.

### 3.2 EMPIRICAL MODEL AND METHODOLOGY

The supply response of rural labor in the nonfarm sector is analyzed using the two-stage wage determination model. The model is applied to determine the likelihood of rural labor market participation, and the factors that affect the wage rate and labor supply in rural nonagricultural jobs, and the implicit price of time. The likelihood of labor market participation and the number of hours supplied to the rural nonagricultural economic activities are dependent on the market wage and the demand for leisure. The labor market participation decision of individuals is made on the basis of the level of market wage relative to the individual's shadow wage (or implicit value of time). An individual chooses to participate in rural nonagricultural economic activities as wage worker or self-employed if the market wage is greater than or equal to the individual's implicit price of time. In this case, the individual's work hours adjust to

equate these two wage rates. Non-participation decision occurs when the market wage is less than the implicit price of time.

Following Kozel and Alderman (1990), the empirical model is presented as follows:

$$W = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_o + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_n X_n + \boldsymbol{\mu}_1$$

$$H = \beta_o + \beta_1 W + \beta_m X_m + \mu_2$$

such that H > 0 when  $W > W_s$ , and H = 0, otherwise.

Where:

W = market wage H = hours of work  $W_s = implicit price of time (shadow wage)$  $X_n, X_m = vector of regressors$ 

In the sample of rural working age population, only those individuals who participated in the labor market provided information about their wages. Self-employed individuals did not report wages but are included in the labor supply estimation. Problem arising from self-selection results when the reported wages of individuals are used to estimate the predicted wages of individuals in the non-wage sector (Kozel and Alderman, 1990). The correction for selectivity bias is done by estimating a probit labor market participation function which includes all individuals belonging to the rural working age population in the sample. From the parameter estimates of the probit function, the inverse of Mills ratio is derived and included in the wage equation. The correction of the selection bias results to consistent parameter estimates in the wage equation (Heckman, 1976).

The second stage of the estimation involves the inclusion of the imputed wage from the wage equation into the labor supply function. In estimating the labor supply function, possible biases resulting from self-selection are corrected using the selectivity correlated ordinary least-squares regression.

### 3.3 MODEL SPECIFICATION

### 3.3.1 Probit Analysis of Rural Labor Force Activity

Using the sample of rural household members belonging to the working age population, the equation for rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities is estimated using the following:

$$P[RLFP_{NF}] = 1 - F(-\beta X_{1i})$$

where:

 $RLFP_{NF}$  = rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities

 $X_{1i}$  = vector of regressors

The dependent variable  $P[RLFP_{NF}]$ , i.e., the probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities, is 1 if the household member is a wage worker or self-employed in

the rural nonagricultural sector; 0, otherwise. Separate regressions are estimated for male and female individuals. The independent variables include:

- a) Age and square of age as proxy variables for experience
- b) Education dummy
- c) Number of children in the household
- d) Number of other adult members in the household
- e) Non-labor income
- f) Civil status
- g) Land ownership
- h) Work location dummy
- i) Municipality of residence dummy
- j) Ownership of business.

### 3.3.2 Wage Equation

The wage equation which is conditional on positive work hours is given as follows:

$$\ln(W_i) = g(X_{2i}, M_i)$$

where:

 $ln(W_i) =$  natural logarithm of observed weekly wage

 $X_{2i}$  = vector of regressors which include the personal characteristics of individual household members such as age, civil status, and education; household characteristics; and work location dummy

23

 $M_i$  = inverse of the Mills ratio calculated from the probit estimation

Age and age-squared as proxy variables for job experience are expected to have positive impact on wages. Moreover, the human capital variables such as education and work experience are also expected to be positively related to wages.

### 3.3.3 Labor Supply Equation

The labor supply equation conditional on positive work hours is given as follows:

$$H_{NF_i} = h(X_{3i}, \ln \hat{W}_i, M_i)$$

where:

 $H_{NFi}$  = number of hours worked per week in nonagricultural jobs

 $X_{3i}$  = vector of regressors which include personal and household characteristics; and non-labor income

 $\ln \hat{W}_i$  = predicted wage derived from the wage equation

 $M_i$  = inverse of the Mills ratio derived from the probit estimation

The variables such as price of purchased goods, price of farm output, and price of other variables inputs are excluded in the empirical model which estimates the nonagricultural labor supply. Rural households included in the survey did not report farm output and price variables. Most of the farm workers are wage workers and majority of the households are primarily engaged in nonagricultural activities.

The predicted wage is expected to have a positive effect on labor supplied to nonagricultural work. The personal characteristics of the individual such as job experience (as proxied by age) is expected to be positively related to nonagricultural labor supply. The household characteristics such as landlessness and the presence of large number of dependents are expected to affect labor supply positively. Furthermore, non-labor income is expected to have a negative effect on labor supply.

Using the same independent variables, the model is estimated using number of weeks worked (with past quarter as reference period) as the dependent variable. Heckman (1974) pointed out that the number of weeks worked is easier to adjust and thus, is more responsive to particular independent variables.

# 4. DATA SOURCES AND METHODOLOGY

#### 4.1 SOURCES OF DATA

The study utilizes two data sets. The secondary data from the Integrated Survey of Households (ISH) and the Family Income and Expenditures Survey (FIES) of the National Statistics Office (NSO) provide aggregate rural labor force, employment, and income statistics. The data are useful in describing and analyzing the trends and changes in the composition of rural labor force, employment, and income in the country overtime. On the other hand, the micro-level data collected from the primary survey of households conducted for the Dynamics of Rural Development (DRD) Project in 1992 are utilized to provide information about labor in rural households, the factors that affect the households' labor allocation decisions as well as the importance and magnitude of the rural nonfarm employment. Moreover, the micro-level data are examined to verify the general findings from the aggregate data.

### 4.2 THE SURVEY

The survey is designed primarily to generate information on the supply side of the rural labor particularly on the availability of rural labor for farm and nonfarm work, the different categories of labor, and other characteristics of rural labor. It also takes into account part of the demand side by capturing the informal types of rural nonfarm enterprises which are usually household-based.

The study uses a broader definition of "rural". It extends the definition of "rural" to include towns which can be considered part of the rural sector because they are basically linked with agriculture and they provide markets and services to the rural population.

### 4.2.1 Scope of the Survey

The survey of households covering selected provinces in the Visayas was conducted during the months of August and September 1992. The survey areas were selected purposively on the basis of agricultural productivity, accessibility to industrial areas, presence and diversity of rural nonfarm enterprises, and proximity to nonfarm sources of employment. The survey covered rural barangays/areas in the provinces of Iloilo, Negros Occidental, Cebu and Bohol. The provinces of Iloilo and Negros Occidental are part of Region VI while Cebu and Bohol are in Region VII. On the aggregate, the growth performance of the two regions vary significantly during the past years. Region VII has grown moderately relative to Region VI. Region VI is a predominantly agricultural region with a relatively large share of agricultural output to the total regional output. On the other hand, Region VII has strong industrial base and the manufacturing industry has a competitive advantage (Lamberte et al., 1993). Agricultural productivity in Region VI was gravely affected by the collapse of the sugar industry. In terms of the differences across provinces, Region VII's growth has been contributed mostly by Cebu. The decline in agricultural production in Negros Occidental can partly explain the slowdown in the overall growth of Region VI.

The highlighted differences between the two Visayan regions as well as among the provinces covered by such regions allow comparisons with respect to the existing importance of the nonfarm sector as a source of employment and income.

The survey involved a sample of 451 households. (See Table 4.1) The households were chosen following a proportionate purposive sampling procedure. The sample size was determined on the basis of the total population and the proportion of rural households in the selected provinces to the total number of rural households in the Philippines.

The sample municipalities were selected from a list of municipalities that were ranked in descending order according to the number of rural nonfarm enterprises in the area. The sample municipalities from each province were selected randomly with probability proportional to the number of nonfarm enterprises. Within each municipality, the sample barangays were randomly chosen with probability proportional to the number of enterprises in each barangay. The distribution of sample households by municipality and barangay was determined in proportion to the number of households per province in the 1990 Census of Population. The sample households were chosen (with replacement) with a random start from the list of households using a sampling interval.

Data were collected through personal interview of respondent household members on household characteristics, demographic and economic characteristics of households and household members, labor force and employment, wage and salary, income from various sources, consumption expenditures, migration, time allocation, and household-operated economic activities. The survey questions used past week and past quarter as reference period except for a few questions concerning income and expenditures.

### 4.2.2 Problems and Limitations

The most serious difficulty in the survey was encountered in the section involving time allocation and consumption expenditures. The responses were affected by the respondent's ability to recall the amount of time that each household member has devoted to a particular activity as well as the household's expenditure on specific items. In this case, it is more reliable to refer to tables showing the distribution of time and expenditures across activities and time rather than the mean amount of time and expenditures spent on various activities and items. Caution must be exercised in using these data sets as well as in deducing conclusions and policy implications. The conclusions derived from the observations based on the micro-level data are specific to the areas studied.

#### 5. THE RURAL LABOR IN THE PHILIPPINES

As discussed in the previous section, the rural sector is characterized by the presence of various linkages between the agricultural and the nonagricultural sectors. The potential for growth of the rural nonagricultural sector in terms of employment and income generation largely depends on the agricultural sector. Labor has the tendency to move out of agriculture with the increase in agricultural productivity and reduced labor requirements per unit of output especially when the rural population is increasing (Islam, 1988). A rise in farm income increases the demand for nonfarm goods and services being produced in the local economy. A higher demand for these goods provides the incentive to rural nonfarm enterprises to expand output and hire more workers. The expansion of employment is possible since most of the rural nonfarm enterprises are small requiring less capital relative to labor (Edgren and Muqtada, 1990; p. 33).

The experience of the rural sector in the Philippines diverges from the aforementioned view. As presented in the following discussions, it appears that the proportion of the rural labor force engaged in agriculture tends to decline not so much in response to increased agricultural productivity, but rather due to low labor absorption in the agricultural sector, pressure from increased poverty, and overall unemployment and underemployment in the rural sector.

This section examines the overall nature and structure of the rural labor in the Philippines. In particular, it looks at how the presence and growth of rural nonagricultural activities have affected the structure of the labor markets.

### 5.1 THE RURAL LABOR FORCE

The country's rural population continues to grow and remains high relative to the urban population. (See Table 5.1) From 25 million in 1970, the rural population increased to 30.2 million in 1980 to 36.1 million in 1992. The average annual growth rate of rural population was highest during 1970-75 at 2.3 percent. Between 1970 and 1990, the rural population posted an average annual growth rate of 1.7 percent. Inspite of the positive growth of rural population, its share to the total population has been declining through the years. This has been the result of the continuous increase in rural-urban migration. Moreover, the decline in the share of rural population can be partly attributed to the widespread urbanization which led to the reclassification of rural areas into urban areas in the censuses and surveys. From 68.2 percent in 1970, the share of rural population to the total population fell to 62.7 percent in 1980 to 57.3 percent and 56.2 percent in 1990 and 1992, respectively.

The rural working age population rose from 19.4 million in 1980 to 22.7 million in 1990. (See Table 5.2) During the period 1980-90, the number of persons who are 15 years old and above in the rural areas grew at an annual average of 1.8 percent. The growth of the rural working age population was slightly faster than the rural population which grew at an annual average of 1.7 percent during the same period. The age structure of the rural working age population reflects a younger composition. About one-third of the working age population belongs to the 15-24 years age group. Moreover, the labor force participation rate of the younger age group increased from 41.2 percent in 1980 to 45.3 percent in 1990 (for 15-19 years) and 60.9 percent in 1980 to 66.6 percent in 1990 (for 20-24 years). However, the older age groups have a relatively higher labor force participation rates than the younger age groups.

With the growing rural population and working age population, the rural labor force also registered significant positive changes. (Table 5.3) The rural labor force grew from 10.3 million in 1975 to 12.1 million in 1980 to 15.2 million in 1990. The labor force participation rate also increased from 52.8 percent in 1975 to 66.8 percent in 1990. The increase in the labor force participation has been attributed to the growth of the labor force and to the rise in the participation of women in the rural areas. A marked rise in the labor force participation rate of women can be observed in the 1980s. This indicates the dominance of the effects of the push factors in the labor force participation decisions of women. The economic crisis, the corresponding reduction in per capita income, and the worsening of rural poverty have forced more women to seek employment to help out in meeting the needs of their households.

# 5.2 RURAL EMPLOYMENT STRUCTURE

The total number of rural employed persons increased in absolute terms. From 8.7 million in 1971, the number of rural employed persons rose to 11.6 million in 1980 to 14.3 million in 1990. However, the proportion of rural employment to the total rural labor force declined from 97.4 percent in 1975 to 96.3 percent in 1980 to 94.0 percent in 1990. Correspondingly, the decline in employment rate was accompanied by the rise in the proportion of the unemployed persons to the total labor force. (Table 5.3) From 2.6 percent in 1975, the unemployment rate rose to 3.7 percent in 1980 to 6.4 percent in 1990. A more relevant indicator of the labor market condition in the rural sector is the number of underemployed persons. The underemployed are identified as persons who worked less than 40 hours during the reference period. The underemployment rate, i.e., the proportion of the underemployed to

total employed, has continuously increased over the years. The proportion of the underemployed rose from 9.5 percent in 1975 to 23.2 percent in 1980 to 25.1 percent in 1985. As of 1990, the rural underemployment rate is recorded at 25.4 percent. Underemployment as an indicator of labor under-utilization reflects in part the nature of farm activities where part-time work is common and the pattern of labor use is affected by seasonality. On the other hand, the increase in the number of rural unemployed and underemployed can also be attributed to the rapid growth of the rural labor force and the slow down in the employment generation in the agricultural sector (Balisacan, 1993).

Changes in labor market outcomes are reflected in different levels of employment. Moreover, they are also reflected in the changing composition of the labor force or in the shift in the employment structure.

### 5.2.1 Sectoral Composition of the Rural Employment

On the sectoral composition of rural employment, the figures show that the agricultural sector remained as the major employer of the rural work force. (Table 5.4) However, the share of agricultural employment to the total rural employment has been declining. Correspondingly, the employment in the nonagricultural sector has been increasing. As of 1990, 64.2 percent of the rural labor force are employed in agriculture while 35.8 percent are in the nonagricultural sector. Male employment in agriculture comprises three-fourths of the total male employment while the females have more or less an equal distribution between the two sectors over the years. The distribution of wage and salary workers by sector shows that a larger proportion of wage and salary workers are employed in the nonagricultural sector. (See Table 5.5) The same can

be observed for the female wage and salary employment. However, the shares of female nonagricultural employment to the total female employment are much higher than the share of nonagricultural employment to the total employment. The employment shares of male wage and salary workers are only slightly higher in the nonagricultural sector.

14.

Generally, both the agricultural and the nonagricultural employment in the rural sector increased in absolute terms. Significant absolute increases in employment was posted by the agricultural sector. In 1975, the number of employed persons in agriculture was 7.1 million. The employment in the sector increased to 7.8 million in 1980 to 8.5 million in 1985. In 1990, employment in agriculture was recorded at 9.2 million. The proportion of employed in the sector, however, declined. From 74.3 percent in 1975 the share of agricultural employment to total employment fell to 67.9 percent in 1980 to 64.2 percent in 1990.

The growth of the nonagricultural sector employment in the rural areas has been spurred by the growth of the service sector employment. Service sector employment grew more rapidly relative to the other sectors. Growing at an average annual rate of 8.9 percent, the sector's employment rose from 1.5 million in 1975 to 3.6 million in 1990. Correspondingly, the share of the service sector to total employment increased from 15.5 percent in 1975 to 25.1 percent in 1990. Within the sector, the community, social and personal services sub-sector accounted for the largest proportion of employment with its share registered at 6.5 percent in 1975, 9.6 percent in 1980, and 11.5 percent in 1990. This sub-sector is followed by the wholesale and retail trade with shares recorded at 6.5 percent in 1975, 7.2 percent in 1980, and 9.6 percent in 1990. The dominance of the services and trade activities in the total rural nonagricultural employment is an indicator of a strong consumption linkage in the rural sector (Ranis et al., 1990). Moreover, the growing service sector employment may imply a dynamic economy, or an adaptation to the overall poor employment performance of the rural sector. Part of the growth of the service sector may be attributed to the growth of the public sector which is part of the community, social and personal services sub-group. Likewise, the service sector is also characterized by informal sector petty services and trading, transport, and simple repairs ---- activities with no barriers to entry. These activities are by their nature linked to the local markets. There are also evidences that these activities are characterized by low productivity.

Employment in the industrial sector grew slowly at an average annual rate of 3.8 percent. A share of about 10 percent has consistently been posted by the industrial sector over the 16year period. Rural manufacturing accounted for the largest share of the rural industrial sector employment. The share of manufacturing to total employment rose slightly from 7.5 percent in 1975 to 8.0 percent in 1980. Although rural manufacturing employment increased in absolute terms, the share to total rural employment fell to 7.2 percent in 1985 to 6.7 percent in 1990. The share of the rural labor force employed in manufacturing is much lower than the nonfarm proportion. The share of construction to total employment rose slightly from 2.1 percent in 1975 to 3.0 percent in 1990. Mining and quarrying and utilities accounted for very small proportion of the total rural employment.

The employment shares in the sub-sectors of rural manufacturing from 1971-88 is presented in Table 5.7. The figures show that textile, wearing apparel and leather industry accounts for the largest share of employment in rural manufacturing although its share to total rural manufacturing employment has been declining. Aside from the more established enterprises that employ ten workers or more, this sub-industry covers the small and cottage industries. The types of activities under this sub-industry are usually done by women and has important implications for increased female employment. Manufacture of wood and wood products including furniture and fixtures and the manufacture of food, beverages and tobacco also have considerable contribution to total rural manufacturing employment. The shares of these two sub-industries to the total rural manufacturing employment have been rising. The rest of the rural manufacturing sub-industries have little contribution to the sector in terms of employment.

### 5.2.2 Occupational Structure of Rural Employment

The composition of primary employment by occupation shows similar pattern relative to employment composition by industry. (Table 5.8) Employed workers in agricultural, animal husbandry, forestry, fishing and hunting occupations increased from 7.0 million in 1975 to 7.8 million in 1980 to 9.0 million in 1990. The agricultural, animal husbandry, forestry workers, fishermen and hunters have the largest share to total employment. The occupations' share to the total employment, however, declined continuously from 74.0 percent in 1975 to 67.5 percent in 1980 to 63.3 percent in 1990. The number of employed production and related workers, transport equipment operators and laborers also increased. From 1.9 million in 1975, the employment of these types of workers is recorded at 2.2 million in 1990. The share of these workers to total rural employment rose slightly ranging from 12.6 percent to 15.1 percent over the 16 year period. The employment of sales and service workers also posted positive changes

with their shares to the total employment increasing significantly over the years. Professional, clerical, administrative, executive and managerial workers posted low shares to total employment in the rural sector. These types of occupations require higher educational qualifications and offer few opportunities for employment in the rural areas.

#### 5.2.3 Rural Employment by Class of Worker

Own-account workers comprise the largest proportion of employed in the rural sector. (Table 5.9) This group includes the self-employed and the employers. As of 1990, 43.3 percent of employed are own-account workers. The large proportion of own-account workers reflects the importance of self-owned and household-based enterprises as a source of employment and income. On the other hand, the wage and salary workers in the rural sector increased significantly from 2.5 million in 1975 to 5.0 million in 1990. The proportion of the wage and salary workers to total rural workers grew from 26.8 percent in 1975 to 35.0 percent in 1990. The proportion of unpaid family workers declined from 28.7 percent in 1975 to 21.6 percent in 1990. The decline resulted from the shift of the rural workforce towards nonagricultural pursuits and the rise in the use of hired workers in farms.

The comparison of rural employment in the agricultural and nonagricultural sectors by class of workers (Table 5.10) shows that the proportion of wage and salary workers is much higher in the nonagricultural sector than in the agricultural sector. Hired labor dominates the nonagricultural sector. On the other hand, the agricultural sector has a bigger proportion of own-account workers although the proportion of these types of workers in the nonagricultural sector is rising. The increasing proportion of own-account workers in the nonagricultural sector reflects the growth of self-employment and entrepreneurship in the rural nonfarm sectors. The decline in the share of unpaid family workers in the agricultural sector is accompanied by the rise in the share of unpaid family workers in the nonagricultural sector.

The distribution and percent changes in rural employment by sector and class of workers are presented in Table 5.11. The figures suggest that the agricultural sector is still dominated by own-account workers with a share of 49.5 percent in 1990. Large increases in the number of own-account workers in agriculture were observed during 1971-75 and 1975-80 at 20.9 percent and 17.5 percent, respectively. The share of wage workers in agriculture has been increasing over time. From 13.6 percent in 1971, the proportion of wage and salary workers in agriculture increased by 27.8 percent in 1971-75. Moreover, a marked increase was posted during the period 1980-85 at 55.6 percent. Correspondingly, the share of the unpaid family workers in agriculture has declined from 39.1 percent in 1971 to 30.6 percent in 1980-85 at 8.1 percent.

In the nonagricultural sector, the wage and salary workers dominate with a 62.2 percent share in the total nonagricultural employment in 1990. The number of wage and salary workers increased significantly during the periods 1975-80 and 1985-90. Own-account workers also have a considerable share in nonagricultural employment. The share of own-account workers in the nonagricultural sector fluctuated from 36.0 percent in 1971 to 28.4 percent in 1980 to 32.3 percent in 1990. In terms of employment levels, the number of own-account workers declined by 18.2 percent in 197-75, rose by 24.5 percent, 38.7 percent, and 12.7 percent in 1975-80,

1980-85, and 1985-90, respectively. The share of unpaid family workers in the nonagricultural sector is small relative to those in the agricultural sector. As of 1990, only 5.6 percent of workers in the nonagricultural sector are unpaid family workers. Just like its counterpart in the agricultural sector, the number of unpaid family workers in the nonagricultural sector declined significantly during the period 1980-85.

### 5.2.4 Gender and Age Composition of Rural Employment

The gender composition of the employment structure reflects the types and nature of activities that exist in the rural sector. (Table 5.12) The proportion of employed persons by gender in the various industry groups shows the increasing participation of females in the majority of the industries. Over the years, the female workers consistently dominate the three major industry groups namely: manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, and community, social and personal services. This pattern reflects the types of activities that female rural workers engage into. The rural manufacturing industry is commonly composed of activities dominated by women like handicraft making, weaving, basketry, and food processing. On the other hand, agriculture, fishery and forestry, construction, and transport industries are consistently dominated by males.

Rural employment is also dominated by younger individuals belonging to the 15-24 years age group (Table 5.13). Persons in the age group 15-24 years comprise one-fourth of the total rural employment. Considerable shares can also be observed in the age groups which cover the productive years of the workers.

# 5.3 AGRICULTURAL WAGES

Table 5.17 shows the average daily nominal and real wages without meals in agriculture by crop and for all crops while Table 5.18 shows the percentage growth rates of the wage rates during the period 1974-1989. Nominal wages in agriculture for all crops as well as for each of the major crop rose during the period under consideration: The nominal wage increases in agriculture reflect the overall inflationary trend in the economy and possibly the imposition of minimum wage in the sector. However, the real agricultural wages fluctuated during the period under consideration. In particular, real agricultural wages for all crops increased from 1975-1977, declined from 1977-1981, increased from 1981-1983, declined from 1983-1984, and rose continuously until 1989. Real wages for all crops suffered the worst fall in 1984 at 7.44 pesos per day. During the same year, real wages in palay and sugarcane production also dropped sharply at 7.93 and 7.50 pesos per day, respectively.

The real agricultural wage rates for the major crops as well as for all crops showed some degree of downward flexibility declining by as much as 13 percent for rice in 1978-1980, 18.7 percent for corn in 1983-1984, 11 percent for coconut in 1978-1980, 25.1 percent for sugarcane in 1983-1984. The biggest declines in real agricultural wages for corn, sugarcane, and all crops were observed during the period 1983-1984. In 1983, agricultural output declined by 2.1 percent and its share to GDP fell to 24.0 percent. Apart from the overall economic crisis, the fall in the world price of sugar, the increase in the prices of agricultural inputs like fertilizer, and the bad weather conditions also contributed to the decline in agricultural output.

### 5.4 SOURCES OF INCOME IN THE RURAL SECTOR

The rural households have various sources of income. The composition of rural household income is shown in Figure 5.1. Income can be derived from farming activities in the form of wage work or self-employment. Farm income from wage work refers to the wage received as hired laborer in another farm. Farm income from self-employment is the net earnings from crop farming on the household's own farm. The nonfarm sources of income include income from other agricultural activities such as fishing, livestock production, hunting and forestry; and nonagricultural activities. Farm income and income from other nonagricultural activities comprise the total income of rural households.

In terms of income, the data also reveal the increasing importance of the nonfarm sector. (Tables 5.14 and 5.15) As of 1988, the rural nonfarm activities accounted for about 43.6 percent of the total income of the rural households. Entrepreneurial activities remained to be the dominant major source of income of the larger proportion of rural families. Crop farming and gardening accounts for the largest share of rural household income but has declined over the years. The proportion of income from service activities, in particular, wholesale and retail trade, has increased. On the other hand, the proportion of income from wages and salaries has posted a significant change from 35.1 percent in 1975 to 41.9 percent in 1988. The bulk of income from wages and salaries comes from the nonagricultural sources. These observations show that the nonfarm activities have become the primary sources not only of employment but also of income of a significant portion of the rural labor force.

#### 5.5 DETERMINANTS OF THE GROWTH OF RURAL NONFARM ACTIVITIES

The aggregate statistics on the rural sector labor reveal the significance of the nonfarm sector in employment and income generation. A growing number of employed persons have shifted to nonfarm activities as primary source of employment and income. The statistics do not include households or persons who engage in nonfarm work as secondary employment. In this case, one can deduce that as a whole, the actual contribution of the nonfarm sector to total employment in the rural sector is even higher than what the figures reveal.

The emergence and growth of the rural nonfarm activities result from the combination of a number of pull and push factors. The net effect on the rural economy is determined by the strength of such factors.

Evidences from aggregate data provide strong indications that the growth of the rural nonfarm sector in terms of employment and income is a result of stronger push factors.

The growing rural labor force have pushed people into nonagricultural activities with varying potential for income generation. The employment and income generation potential of the rural nonfarm activities is dependent on the agricultural and the overall economic environment. The growth in agricultural productivity can spur the growth in the nonfarm sector through the various linkages. The present structure of the rural sector employment can be partly attributed to the experience of the agricultural sector in general. In terms of output growth, the agricultural sector posted positive productivity gains with the introduction of the HYVs in the 60s and the 70s. Evidence show that various support services, pricing and incentive structures were implemented to put more land under cultivation. These efforts, however, has resulted to decreased rural employment due to early mechanization which was brought about by the effect

of factor price distortions on HYV cultivation (Edgren and Muqtada, 1990). Farm sizes remained small and the average farm size declined from 3.6 hectares in 1960 and 1970 to 1.4 hectares in 1991. (See Table 5.16) The decline in the average farm size was a result of a more rapid increase in the rural population and the number of farm operators relative to the increase in the farm area cultivated. Moreover, the highly skewed distribution of productivity gains with the existing structure of landownership characterized by substantial landlessness have hampered the growth of the rural sector. Rural poverty and underemployment continued to exist. Thus, the potential for further productive employment creation in agriculture has considerably diminished and has given rise to the low labor absorption in the sector.

The shift to nonfarm activities in the rural sector can be regarded more as response to the diminishing employment opportunities in the agricultural sector and to the pressure from increased poverty. The availability of productive work in the rural nonfarm sector raises the opportunity cost of working as hired or part-time laborer in farms or as idle worker waiting for work opportunities in farms. Moreover, it opens up opportunities to rural households, specifically the landless, to reallocate their labor to other activities.

43

# 6. LABOR IN THE RURAL HOUSEHOLD ECONOMY: CASE STUDY OF ILOILO, NEGROS OCCIDENTAL, CEBU AND BOHOL

# 6.1 PROFILE OF SAMPLE PROVINCES

All the provinces included in the case study are located in the Visayas region. Iloilo and Negros Occidental are part of Region VI (Western Visayas) while Cebu and Bohol are part of Region VII (Central Visayas). The provinces differ with respect to the physical, demographic, and socio-economic characteristics. (See Table 6.1)

The province of Iloilo is composed of a city, i.e., the provincial capital, 46 municipalities, and 1,996 barangays. With a total land area of 532,397 hectares, Iloilo ranks second to Negros Occidental relative to the other sample provinces in terms of land area. The province is a major producer of palay and has a growing fishing industry. A large proportion of the arable land in the province is utilized in palay production. The population of the province is estimated at 1,765,476 as of the 1990 Census of Population and Housing while the population density is about 332 persons per square kilometers. The population of the province grew at an annual average growth rate of 2.1 percent during the period 1980-1990. About 72.8 percent of the total number of households are in the rural sector. As of 1990, 743,803 persons in Iloilo comprise the working age population 54.7 percent of which are members of the labor force. Agriculture, fishery, and forestry sector is the major employer of the rural labor force absorbing about 59.2 percent of the rural employed persons while 12.1 percent are in the services sector. Among the sample provinces, Iloilo has the highest rural unemployment rate at 14.9 percent.

The province of Negros Occidental is the top producer of sugarcane in the country. Negros Occidental has 6 cities, 26 municipalities, and 656 barangays. In terms of land area, the province is the largest among the sample provinces with 792,607 hectares. About 517,417 hectares of land are considered arable 63 percent of which is being utilized for agricultural purposes. A large portion of the agricultural land is being used in sugarcane production. Population, as of 1990, is estimated at 2,256,908. Over the 10-year period, the population grew at an annual average of 1.6 percent. About 54 percent of the population are found in the rural areas while 64.9 percent of the total households are rural households.

In the Visayas region, Cebu is considered the most urbanized and industrialized province. The province has a growing business, commercial, and industrial establishments. Cebu is well-known for its small- and medium-scale industries which cater not only to the demands of the domestic markets but more importantly of the export markets. The province has 57.4 percent of households in the rural sector, the lowest among the sample provinces. Cebu's land area is estimated at 508,839 hectares. As of 1990, the population is estimated at 2,645,735 persons. A large portion of the population reside in the five cities of the province known as Metro Cebu. Cebu registered the highest annual population growth rate relative to the other sample provinces at 2.4 percent during the period 1980-1990. This high growth rate of population has been partly due to high in-migration rate in the province. The rural working age population as of 1990 is 741,088 and the rural labor force participation rate is 59.0 percent. About 47.5 percent of the rural labor force is employed in agriculture, fishery, and forestry. Second to agriculture, the manufacturing sector employed 9.1 percent of the rural labor force. Rural unemployment rate is estimated at 8.4 percent.

Among the sample provinces, Bohol is the smallest in terms of land area and population. The total land area of the province is estimated at 411,726 hectares while population as of 1990 is 948,315. Over the 10-year period, the population grew at an annual rate of 1.6 percent. Bohol has the largest proportion of rural households and the highest rural labor force participation relative to the other sample provinces at 85.3 percent and 62.2 percent, respectively. Agriculture, fishery, and forestry employed about 42.2 percent of the rural labor force while rural unemployment rate is 10.1 percent.

### 6.2 CHARACTERISTICS OF SURVEY RURAL HOUSEHOLDS

Table 6.2 summarizes the relevant information about the rural households included in the sample. The sample of 451 rural households in the four provinces are distributed as follows: Cebu-132, Bohol-78, Iloilo-112, and Negros Occidental-129. The sample rural households involves 2,374 people of whom 1,556 belong to the working age population, i.e., persons who are 15 years old and over. Of the 1,556 working age population, 813 persons or 52.2 percent are in the labor force. Among the sample provinces, the rural labor force participation rates ranged from 49.0 percent to 56.3 percent. Cebu posted the highest rural labor force participation rate while Iloilo has the lowest. The number of employed persons is recorded at 725 or 89.2 percent of the labor force. Bohol posted the highest employment rate at 94.8 percent while Negros Occidental has the lowest at 85.1 percent. On the other hand, 88 persons are unemployed or reported to be actively looking for work during the time of the survey. Equivalently, the unemployment rate is 10.8 percent. The highest unemployment rate is posted by Negros Occidental at 14.9 percent while Bohol registered the lowest at 5.2 percent.

Among the sample households, the average family size is 5.2. The dependency ratio (i.e., the share of population below 15 years old and above 55 years old to the working age

population) is highest in Cebu at 58.3 percent. This indicates that Cebu has a relatively younger population in the sample households compared with the other provinces. Landlessness characterizes majority of the households in the sample. Only about 38.6 percent of the sample households reported to own a parcel of land. In Negros Occidental, only 7 percent of the sample rural households own land. Relative to the other sample provinces, Bohol has the highest proportion of rural households with land.

#### 6.3 RURAL HOUSEHOLD LABOR USE AND ALLOCATION

The composition of the working age population by sex in each province is presented in Table 6.3. The figures show that the females dominate the working age population. In the four provinces, the share of female working age population to the total ranged from 52.2 percent to 56 percent.

The employment and unemployment indicators are presented in Tables 6.4 and 6.5. The figures show that although the province of Bohol has the lowest employment level with 128 employed persons, it has the highest employment rate at 94.8 among the sample provinces. Cebu has the highest employment level with 90.5 percent employment rate which is slightly higher than the rate for the total sample in all the provinces. On the average, the rural household members in Iloilo and Negros Occidental started working at a later age relative to those in Cebu and Bohol. Negros Occidental posted the highest unemployment rate at 14.9 percent followed by Iloilo with 11.2 percent. The unemployment rate for the total sample household is 10.8 percent. The members of the rural sample households who are actively looking for work, on the average, have spent about 14 months in job search. In Iloilo, the unemployed spent 23.5

months on the average in job search. The period of job search appears to be shorter in Cebu at an average of 5.3 months.

The rural economy is composed of the farm and the nonfarm sectors. The rural households may engage in two major types of activities namely: the income-generating and the non-income generating activities. The non-income-generating activities include domestic/household activities and leisure. The income-generating activities include farm and nonfarm work where nonfarm work includes food and non-food production, services and trade activities. Figure 6.1 shows the various types of labor in income-generating activities. The farm sector is composed of landowners, tenants, owner-cultivator, lessee, and hired workers. On the other hand, the nonfarm sector is composed of wage and salary workers in the government and private sectors, self-employed, and employers. Rural households combine farm and nonfarm income-generating activities or engage solely in farm or nonfarm work,

# 6.3.1 RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR

The composition of employment by sector shows that the bulk of the sample households are in the nonagricultural sector. This implies that the extent of dependence of rural households on rural nonfarm activities is very substantial. (See Table 6.6) In Negros Occidental, 95.2 percent of employed persons in the sample are in the nonagricultural sector. The proportion of the employed in the nonagricultural sector are 85.2, 84.6 and 75 percent for Cebu, Iloilo, and Bohol, respectively. In the four provinces, the agricultural sector is male dominated as evidenced by a very high proportion of male employment to the total agricultural employment. The comparison of sample provinces revealed that Iloilo and Negros Occidental have higher proportion of female workers in agriculture than Cebu and Bohol. This is accounted for by activities other than crop farming. Most of the females employed in agriculture are engaged in livestock and poultry raising, and gardening. It appears that female workers participate more in nonagricultural activities. The proportion of female employed in the sector ranged from 40.4 to 58.3 percent. However, the proportion of female employed in the nonagricultural sector is higher than that of the male only for Bohol.

#### 6.3.2 RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY

Tables 6.7 and 6.8 show the number and the distribution of employed persons by industry group. In the sample provinces, services accounted for the biggest share of total employment with 29.9 percent followed by wholesale and retail trade with 21.2 percent and manufacturing with 16.7 percent. Agriculture, fishery and forestry accounts for 15.6 percent of employed household members. In Iloilo, the bulk of the employed male are in services, agriculture, and manufacturing, whereas, the bulk of female workers are in services and wholesale and retail trade. In Negros Occidental, the larger proportion of male workers are in services, wholesale and retail trade, and transportation. A bigger proportion of female workers are in the wholesale and retail, and services activities. In Cebu and Bohol, the male workers are predominantly in agriculture, manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, and services. On the other hand, the female workers are largely engaged in manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, and service activities.

The structure of rural employment in the sample provinces confirms the general observation that a strong consumption linkage exists in the rural sector. Services and trade activities also dominate the nonagricultural component of employment in the survey areas. The

expenditure pattern of the survey households shows that the largest proportion of the households' income was spent on food (See Table 6.28).

The composition of rural employment by industry and sex reflects the special importance of rural manufacturing for women. Rural manufacturing is composed mostly of small and cottage industries . In particular, rural manufacturing is composed of a variety of activities which include food processing, handicraft making, weaving , basketry ,and other cottage industries. Most rural women possess the traditional skill required by these activities. Wholesale and retail trade is also an important source of employment for rural women. These commercial activities usually involve retail trade in small stores (petty commodity trading) and food vending. Although wholesale and retail trade activities are predominantly female occupation, the males also participate as evidenced by considerably high male participation in these activities. Rural manufacturing and wholesale and retail trade activities are small-scale, labor intensive, and are usually owner-operated.

There is a clear gender division of household labor. Males are involved in incomegenerating activities which are done away from the household. For instance, farming activities are male dominated. Majority of the women are engaged in rural manufacturing and wholesale and retail trade activities which are mostly household-operated. With the rising incidence of sub-contracting arrangements in rural manufacturing activities, the female participation in these activities has a tendency to increase over time. Rural women have strong preference for work which can be done within the household or neighborhood so that there would still be time left to devote to domestic household work.

## 6.3.3 RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY OCCUPATIONAL GROUP

Tables 6.9 and 6.10 present the number and the distribution of employed persons in sample households by major occupational group. In the four provinces, the bulk of the workers are engaged as laborers in production and transport equipment operations (34.7 percent). Sales and service occupations also comprise the majority of rural employment in the sample households.

In Iloilo, a larger proportion of males are in production, agricultural, and sales occupation. The women are mostly in sales, service, and professional occupations. In Negros Occidental, the majority of the male workers are in production, sales and clerical occupations. The female workers dominate the sales, professional, and clerical occupations. In Cebu, the male workers are mostly in production, agriculture, and sales occupations. The women are mostly engaged in production, service, and sales occupations. In Bohol, the larger proportion the male workers are engaged in agriculture, production, and sales activities, whereas, the women are in professional, sales, and production activities.

# 6.3.4 RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY CLASS OF WORKERS

The number and distribution of workers by class (Tables 6.11 and 6.12) show that majority of the workers in all the provinces are wage and salary workers. The proportion of wage and salary workers to the total rural employed workers ranges from 25.0 percent to 34.6 percent. A larger proportion of wage and salary workers are male , although females have significant share in the group. The self-employed workers also have a considerable share in the total rural employment except for Cebu. The self-employed are more or less equally shared by males and females, while unpaid family workers are mostly males. Bohol has the largest share of unpaid family workers at 41.4 percent.

Wage work is an important source of employment and income particularly of the landless and small holder households. Participation in nonfarm wage work is related to the size of land holdings and access to the means of production. Generally, the primary sources of employment for males are wage work in manufacturing and agriculture. Women also make up a significant proportion of total participation in the labor market as wage and salary workers. There are more women in the professional occupations than men which indicates that they are more educated than the males.

# 6.3.5 RURAL EMPLOYMENT IN PRIMARY AND SECONDARY OCCUPATIONS

The employment structure of individual rural household is characterized by a wide range of activities. This condition arises as farm work and nonagricultural jobs are combined by the individual household member to meet specific income targets. Employment in secondary occupations are found to be prevalent in most rural villages (G. Bautista, 1987; Hayami et al., 1986).

The survey collected information about the primary and secondary occupation of rural workers, the location where primary occupation is carried out, and the average weekly wage from primary as well as secondary jobs. Table 6.13 (A-D) present the distribution of employed household members by primary occupation and class of worker by province. It can be observed that sales, production, and service occupations dominate as primary occupations in the sample provinces. The provinces of Iloilo and Cebu have the highest number of workers engaged in

production activities while primary occupation in Negros Occidental is dominated by sales workers.

The location where the primary occupation is carried out reflects the role infrastructure and proximity of rural villages to more urbanized towns. The presence of infrastructure like roads, the availability of transportation facilities, and the proximity of rural villages to more urbanized towns. The presence of infrastructure like roads, the availability of transportation facilities, and the proximity of rural villages to urban centers increase the access of rural residents to nonagricultural job opportunities. These factors also facilitate the shift from agriculture to nonagricultural occupations without changing residences. The province of Cebu has the highest proportion of workers whose primary occupation are carried out in municipalities outside the place of residence. On the other hand, Bohol, considered the least "urbanized" among the sample provinces has a very high proportion of workers working in own home and immediate neighborhood.

#### 6.4 EARNINGS OF RURAL LABOR

The earnings in the rural areas are paid in cash and/or in kind. This mode of payment which combines cash with payments in kind are common in farming, service, and trade occupations wherein free meals and lodging comprise the kind components of the earnings. Table 6.18 and 6.19 present the average weekly earnings of workers by sector and in nonagricultural activities. caution must be taken in analyzing the kind component of the average earnings because of the difficulty in estimating the cash value of such payments.

On the average, the earnings generated by rural households from nonagricultural work exceed those generated from agricultural activities. The cash values of the payments in kind are small and negligible relative to the cash payment except for the agricultural activities in Cebu. Average weekly earnings in the nonagricultural sector vary across types of activities and province. It can also be observed that the average rural earnings reported by the sample households are lower relative to the urban earnings as reported by various surveys covering the urban areas.

### 6.5 WAGE LABOR IN SURVEY PROVINCES

The number and distribution of wage workers in the sample provinces are presented in Table 6.20. A considerable number of rural households in the sample areas earn income by hiring out labor. The data show that 55 percent of the total rural employed persons in Cebu are wage workers. Wage labor accounts for 46.6 percent, 34.6 percent, and 25.0 percent of the rural workers in Negros Occidental, Iloilo, and Bohol. The presence of a large proportion of wage workers in the survey areas supports the view that a wage labor market exists in the rural sector of the sample provinces. Opportunities for wage labor are available to rural households to hire out their labor both in farming and non-farming activities along with the other alternatives such as work in own farm and self-employment in the nonfarm sector.

Wage employment data based on the past quarter reference period reveal high figures. (See Table 6.21) A total of 421 employed persons in the survey areas reported to be working as hired labor. In terms of occupational classification, production and related workers, transport, equipment operators, and laborers account for the largest proportion of wage workers. Service and professional workers also have a significant share to total wage employment. Majority of the wage workers in these occupational groups are workers engaged in personal services, employees in the government, and teachers. The provincial data show similar composition with production, professional, and service activities as the dominant occupations of the wage workers. These observations may roughly reflect the presence of rural labor markets which are characterized by the combination of formal and informal types of activities.

On the average, the hired workers in the nonagricultural occupations worked longer hours and received higher wages relative to those in the agricultural occupations. (See Tables 6.22 and 6.23) Sales and service workers in the survey areas spent an average of 48 hours a week in the labor market. However, the average weekly earnings of these types of workers are relatively low compared with the other nonagricultural occupations. These observations can be partly explained by the nature of activities in sales and service occupations which are most commonly in the low productivity informal sector.

The varying agricultural wages across sample provinces is reflective of the variations in agricultural productivity as well as the nature of agricultural operations undertaken by the hired workers.

It can also be observed that the wage differentials between the nonagricultural and agricultural occupations in the survey areas are large. This observation reveals the kind of labor market linkage between the agricultural and the nonagricultural sectors in the survey areas. It appears that the labor market outcomes in the agricultural sector in the form of low wages and limited labor absorption have significantly influenced the existing structure of labor markets in the nonfarm sector.
The major factor which determines the supply of hired labor in the nonfarm sector is the distribution of productive assets. In the rural areas, agricultural land is the most important productive asset of households. The distribution of landless households in the survey areas reveals that provinces with large proportion of landless households have a relatively high proportion of hired workers. In particular, the percentage of landless households in the surveys areas of Negros Occidental and Iloilo are estimated at 93.0 percent and 63.4 percent, respectively. On the other hand, hired labor accounts for 29.5 percent and 24.0 percent of employment in the survey areas of the two provinces. The observations from the survey areas confirm the hypothesis that the lack of productive resources is the main factor that gave rise to larger share of hired labor in the nonfarm sector. The nonfarm sector is an important source of employment of the landless households in the survey areas.

# 6.6 ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES OF SURVEY HOUSEHOLDS

A significant proportion of rural households are engaged as producers, owners and operators of farm and nonfarm enterprises. (Table 6.24) Out of 451 rural households, 250 are engaged in entrepreneurial activities. Only 10.4 percent or 26 households are operating farm enterprises. The remaining 89.6 percent households are operating nonfarm enterprises. The bulk of the enterprises (45.2 percent) are in wholesale and retail trade comprising mostly of sari-sari stores and markets stalls. Livestock and poultry raising , and manufacturing have considerable shares to the total number of enterprises at 15.6 percent and 11.2 percent, respectively.

Majority of the sample rural households in the four provinces are engaged in wholesale and retail trade. Negros Occidental has the highest share of households engaged in wholesale and

56

retail trade at 69.2 percent. About 43.8 percent, 33.3 percent, and 27.1 percent of the household enterprises are engaged in wholesale and retail trade in Iloilo, Bohol, and Cebu, respectively. In Cebu, 20.8 percent of rural households engaged in entrepreneurial activities are in crop farming and gardening business. Bohol, on the other hand, has a bigger proportion of household enterprises in manufacturing with 18.8 percent.<sup>•</sup> A larger proportion of enterprises in Iloilo are engaged in livestock and poultry. These observations reveal that majority of the household-based enterprises serve the local markets.

Table 6.25 shows the number and the type of labor utilized in the household-operated enterprises. The 250 enterprises in the sample provinces employed 267 workers. This indicates that household-based enterprises have a considerable direct employment effect in the survey areas. The number employed by the household-operated enterprises excludes the owneroperators. It appears that the use of family workers is still a common practice in the rural areas. About 56.6 percent or 151 of the total employed in household-operated enterprises are family labor. Hired labor is estimated at 43.4 percent. In particular, the rural household-operated enterprises in Cebu has the highest share of family labor at 74.6 percent. On the other hand, the proportion of hired workers in the rural household-operated enterprises in Negros Occidental is highest at 57 percent. The data suggest that although most rural household-based enterprises in the sample areas still rely on family labor, the share of hired workers are considerably high particularly in Negros Occidental and Iloilo.

It is also interesting to know which type of activities employ greater proportion of hired workers. Table 6.26 presents the number of employed in household-operated enterprises by type of activity and type of worker. The data revealed that household-based enterprises engaged in

crop farming and gardening, and fishing activities employ a greater proportion of hired workers. Wholesale and retail enterprises have greater proportion of family labor. The data by province showed the same observations. For instance, hired labor dominates employment in householdbased enterprises engaged in crop farming and gardening in Iloilo and Negros Occidental. On the other hand, family labor dominates employment in wholesale and retail trade enterprises in all the sample provinces.

The employment data in the household-based enterprises are supported by the data on the average number of hours worked. (Table 6.27) On the average, hired labor worked longer hours in household-based enterprises engaged in crop farming and gardening while family labor worked longer hours in wholesale and retail trade enterprises. These observations are partly explained by the nature of work in these activities. Wholesale and retail trade activities are mostly composed of sari-sari stores and markets stalls usually located within the confines of the household or within the neighborhood. Given this kind of set up, family members can easily substitute for each other in performing their tasks. Trust is a major factor that explains the employment of family workers in these enterprises while experience or skills are not necessarily required. On the other hand, the small farmers usually hire workers to perform specific tasks that may require skills and experience.

#### 7. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

The following empirical results provide information on the determinants of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural economic activities and wage rates as well as the rural nonagricultural labor supply response to human capital, demographic, and economic variables in the sample rural areas of the provinces of Iloilo, Negros Occidental, Cebu, and Bohol.

### 7.1 RURAL LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION

The probit estimates of the equations explaining the probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities for all working age individuals, and for male and female are given in Table 7.3. The equations were fitted to 1,482 observations for all working age individuals, 698 for males, and 778 for females in the survey areas. The results show that most of the variables carried the expected signs but are statistically insignificant. The human capital variables such as AGE, AGEQ (both used as proxy for years of work experience) and EDUC (dummy variables for the different educational levels) are not significant in explaining the probability of labor force participation of rural household members in nonagricultural activities. The demographic variables such as the number of children below 6 years old (CHILD6), the number of children aged 7 to 14 years old (CHLD14), the number of other adult male and female family members (NOMALE, NOFEMAL), and civil status (CS) do not have significant influence on the probability of labor force participation in nonagricultural activities for both sexes. These results deviate from the findings of studies in other developing countries (e.g., Kozel and Alderman, 1990; Sahn and Alderman, 1988). Significant income and substitution effects are contributed by the demographic variables in Pakistan and Sri Lanka. For instance, the probability of female labor force participation in economic activities is significantly affected by the presence of other adult members in the household. The presence of other female adult household members who can substitute to perform household work increases the probability of the mother's labor market participation. On the other hand, more male adult members which imply more probable workers decreases the probability of female labor market participation.

The dummy variable for the ownership of farm land appears to have no significant influence on the decision to participate in the rural nonagricultural activities. On the other hand, the ownership of household-operated enterprises or businesses has a significant negative effect on the probability of participation. This observation contradicts the hypothesis that the ownership of household-operated enterprises or businesses particularly the nonagricultural types increases the participation of rural household members in nonagricultural economic pursuits. Individuals whose households received non-labor income have a lower probability of labor participation in nonagricultural activities as confirmed by the negative and significant parameter estimates of non-labor income.

Majority of the dummy variables for work location (WORK1, WORK2, WORK3, WORK4) have significant impact on the probability of labor force participation in nonagricultural activities. These imply that the individual's decision to participate in nonagricultural activities is strongly affected by the location and proximity of the place of residence to the place of work. The greater the distance of residence from the place of work, the lower the probability of labor force participation in nonagricultural activities.

60

# 7.2 SELECTIVITY CORRECTED WAGE DETERMINATION EQUATIONS

The parameter estimates of the selectivity corrected wage equations are shown in Table 7.4. The estimates show that wages significantly increase with the age variables particularly in the total and male wage equations. These suggest that wages increase significantly with years of work experience. The dummy variables for education has an insignificant effect on the wages of all workers as well as on the wages of male and female individuals. These may imply low private returns to education in the rural sector.

The demographic variables such as the presence of young children in the household has a negative but insignificant effect on wages. The dummy variables for work location has significant effect on wages. Shorter distances between the place of residence and work has negative affect on the wage rates of rural workers. This indicates that work done at home or within the neighborhood offer lower wages. Likewise, greater distances of work location also negatively affects wages.

# 7.3 NONAGRICULTURAL LABOR SUPPLY EQUATIONS

The estimates of the nonagricultural labor supply equations using hours of work and number of work weeks as dependent variables are presented in Tables 7.5 and 7.6. The equations using hours of work yield parameter estimates which carried the expected signs but some are statistically insignificant. The indicators of goodness of fit are 70.9 percent for total, 80.7 percent for male, and 60.4 for female. The demographic variables appear to have insignificant effect on the nonagricultural labor supply of workers in the total and male equations. However, age has a positive significant effect on the hours of work of females. This result partly captures the cycle in the female work life where older women re-enters the labor

market after undergoing the phase in which child care and household work are substituted for labor market work.

Children below 6 years of age has a significant negative impact only on female hours of work. This suggests the presence of a strong substitution effect between child care and hours of work in the labor market. The effect of non-labor income is consistent with the standard labor supply theory. Hours of work decrease significantly in response to non-labor income. These results reflect the dominance of the income effect and confirm the hypothesis that leisure is a normal good.

The log of the predicted wage has a positive and significant effect on hours of work in all equations. These results indicate a strong substitution effect of a wage increase. The rural labor supply in terms of work hours is inelastic with respect to wage rate. This is reflected in the elasticity values which are less than one.

The estimates of the nonagricultural labor supply parameters with weeks work as the dependent variable are shown in Table 7.6. The results are similar to those in the hours of work equations with few exceptions. Non-labor income is found to have a negative effect on weeks work but the coefficients are statistically significant only in the total and female equations. The coefficients of non-labor income are smaller relative to those in the hours of work equations. These results imply that the supply response to non-labor income is weaker in terms of the number of work weeks. Likewise, the log of the predicted wage carried the expected sign but is statistically significant only in the total and female equations. The rural labor supply in terms of work weeks is also inelastic with respect to wages. The magnitude of the elasticities suggests that work weeks is less responsive to wage rates relative to hours of work.

### 8. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

#### 8.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

## Observations from the aggregate rural employment and income data are as follows:

- a) The rural population has been continuously increasing but at declining rates. The share of the rural population to the total population has also been declining through the years. This has been attributed to the continuous increase in rural-urban migration and partly to the reclassification of rural areas into urban areas as a result of urbanization.
- b) The rural labor force and rural labor force participation rate rose significantly during 1975-1990. The significant increase in the labor force and rural labor force participation rate has been attributed to the growth of the labor force and to the rise in the participation of women. The worsening of rural poverty as a result of the reduction in per capita income and the overall economic crisis have forced more women to seek employment.
- c) Rural employment increased in absolute terms but its proportion to total rural labor force declined. Rural unemployment and underemployment rose and remained at high levels in 1990. Labor underutilization in the rural sector reflects in part the nature of farm activities where part-time work is common and the pattern of labor use is affected by seasonality. The rapid growth of the rural labor force also contributed to rural unemployment and underemployment.

Although the agricultural sector remained as the major employer of the rural work d) force, the sector's employment share to the total rural employment has been declining. Correspondingly, the employment in the nonagricultural sector has been increasing. Employment in the rural nonagricultural sector expanded but rural manufacturing employment remained low. The growth of the rural nonagricultural sector employment has been spurred by the growth of the service sector employment. Service sector employment grew rapidly relative to other sectors. In 1990, the sector's share to total rural employment is estimated at 25.1 percent. The dominance of the services and trade activities in the total rural nonagricultural employment is an indicator of a strong consumption linkage in the rural sector. Moreover, the growing service sector employment may imply a dynamic economy, or an adaptation to the overall poor employment performance of the rural sector and the economy as a whole. Part of the growth of the service sector may be attributed to the growth of the public sector. Likewise, the service sector is also characterized by informal sector petty services and trading, transport, and simple repairs --activities with no barriers to entry. These activities are by their nature linked to the local markets. There are also evidences that these activities are characterized by low productivity.

The rural industrial sector grew slowly at an average annual rate of 3.8 percent. Rural manufacturing employment increased slightly over the years but the sub-sector's share to total rural employment declined from 7.2 percent in 1985 to 6.7 percent in 1990. Rural manufacturing is dominated by textile,

64

wearing apparel and leather industry in terms of employment. This partly explains the rise in female employment in the rural areas.

e) In terms of occupational composition, the rural sector employment is dominated by agricultural, animal husbandry, forestry, fishing, and hunting occupations, although employment in these occupations has been declining. Employment of production, sales, and services workers increased. Employment in occupations which require higher educational qualifications posted low share to total rural employment.

- f) Own-account workers comprise the largest proportion of employed in the rural sector. This reflects the importance of self-owned and household-based enterprises as a source of employment and income in the rural areas. The employment of wage and salary workers in the rural sector increased. As of 1990, its hare to total rural employment reached 35 percent. Correspondingly, the proportion of unpaid family workers declined. The decline resulted from the shift of the rural workforce towards nonagricultural pursuits and the rise in the use of hired workers in farms. Hired labor dominates the rural nonagricultural sector. The proportion of own-account workers in the nonagricultural sector increased. This reflects the growth of self-employment and entrepreneurship in the sector.
- g) Rural employment is significantly characterized by the increasing participation of women. Female workers dominate manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, and

services activities. This pattern reflects the types of activities performed by female rural workers.

- h) Nominal agricultural wages rose from 1974-1989. This reflects the overall inflationary trend in the economy and possibly the imposition of minimum wage in the sector. Real agricultural wages fluctuated during the period under consideration. However, real wages for all agricultural crops suffered the worst fall in 1984. In particular, the real wages of palay and sugarcane workers dropped sharply in 1984. During this period, agricultural output declined by 2.1 percent and its share to GDP fell to 24 percent. The decline in agricultural output resulted from the combined effects of the overall economic crisis, the fall in the world price of sugar, the increase in the prices of agricultural inputs like fertilizer, and the bad weather condition.
- Rural nonagricultural activities is also an important source of income of the rural households accounting for about 43.6 percent of the total income.
- j) Evidences from the aggregate data provide strong indications that the growth of the rural nonagricultural activities have become an important source of employment and income in the rural sector. Moreover, the rural nonagricultural sector in terms of employment and income is a result of stronger push factors. The growing rural labor force have pushed people into nonagricultural activities with varying potential for income generation. The shift to nonagricultural activities in the rural sector can be regarded more as a response to the

diminishing employment opportunities in the agricultural sector and to the pressure from increased rural poverty.

Observations from the household survey data covering the provinces of Iloilo, Negros Occidental, Cebu, and Bohol are as follows:

- a) Majority of the sample households are engaged in nonagricultural activities. A clear gender division in economic activities exists in the rural sector. The agricultural sector is male dominated while female workers participate more in nonagricultural activities.
- b) In the survey areas, services accounted for the biggest

share of total rural employment followed by wholesale and retail trade and manufacturing. This suggests that the structure of rural employment in the sample provinces confirms the general observation that a strong consumption linkage exists in the rural sector.

c) The composition of rural employment by industry and sex reflects the special importance of rural manufacturing for women. Rural manufacturing is composed of a variety of activities which include food processing, handicraft making, weaving, basketry, and other cottage industries. Wholesale and retail trade is also an important source of employment for rural women. These activities include retail trade in small stores and food vending. Rural manufacturing and wholesale and retail activities are small-scale, labor intensive, and usually owner-operated.

- d) Males are involved in income-generating activities which are done away from the household, for instance, farming activities. Majority of the women are engaged in rural manufacturing and wholesale and retail trade activities which are mostly household-operated. Work location is an important factor influencing rural women's participation in income-generating activities. Rural women have strong preference for work which can be done within the household or neighborhood. In Negros Occidental and Cebu for instance, the rising incidence of subcontracting arrangements have encouraged more women to participate in manufacturing activities.
- e) Hired workers dominate the sample areas with the proportion to rural employed ranging from 25 percent to 34.6 percent. The self-employed workers also have a considerable share in the total rural employment except for Cebu.

f) Farm work and nonagricultural jobs are combined by household members to meet specific income targets. Sales and service occupations dominate as primary occupations in the sample provinces. The provinces of Iloilo and Cebu have the highest number of workers engaged in production activities as primary occupation while Negros Occidental is dominated by sales workers.

The location where primary occupation is carried out reflects the role of infrastructure and proximity of rural villages to more urbanized towns. The presence of infrastructure like roads, the availability of transportation facilities, and the proximity of rural villages to urban centers increase the access of rural residents to nonagricultural job opportunities. These factors also facilitate the

68

shift from agriculture to nonagricultural occupations without changing residences. The data from the sample provinces show that Cebu has the highest proportion of workers from the rural areas whose primary occupations are carried out in municipalities outside the place of residence. The presence of a more developed infrastructure and the availability of transportation facilities in the province increased the workers mobility and enabled them to take jobs outside the village. On the other hand, Bohol, considered the least "urbanized among the sample provinces has a very high proportion of workers working in own home and immediate neighborhood.

- g) On the average, the earnings generated by rural households from nonagricultural work exceed those generated from agricultural activities. The cash values of the payments in kind are small relative to cash payment except for the agricultural activities in Cebu.
- h) A considerable number of rural households in the sample areas earn income by hiring out labor. Among the sample provinces, the proportion of wage labor ranges from 25 percent to 55 percent. The presence of a large proportion of wage workers in the survey areas supports the view that a wage labor market exists in the rural sector of the sample provinces. On the average, the hired workers in the nonagricultural occupations worked longer hours and received higher wages relative to those in the agricultural occupations. Sales and service workers in the survey areas spent an average of 48 hours a week in the labor market. However, the average weekly earnings of these types of workers are

relatively low compared with the other nonagricultural occupations. These observations can be partly explained by the nature of activities in sales and service occupations which are most commonly in the low productivity informal sector.

- i) The wage differentials between the nonagricultural and agricultural occupations in the survey areas are large. This reflects an important labor market link between the agricultural and the rural nonagricultural sectors. It appears that the labor market outcomes in the agricultural sector in the form of low wages and limited labor absorption have significantly influenced the existing structure of labor markets in the nonagricultural sector.
- j) The major factor which determined the supply of hired labor in the nonfarm sector is the distribution of productive assets. The distribution of landless households in the survey areas reveals that provinces with large proportion of landless households have a relatively high proportion of hired workers. In particular, the percentage of landless households in the survey areas of Negros Occidental and Iloilo are estimated at 93.0 percent and 63.4 percent, respectively. On the other hand, hired labor accounts for 29.5 percent and 24.0 percent of employment in the survey areas of the two provinces.
- k) A significant proportion of rural households are engaged as producers, owners and operators of farm and nonfarm enterprises. Majority of the enterprises are in wholesale and retail trade, livestock and poultry raising, and manufacturing. The household-based enterprises have a considerable direct employment effect in

the survey areas. However, it is also observed that the use of family workers is still a common practice in the rural areas. About 56.6 percent of the total employed in household-operated enterprises are family labor. Household-based enterprises engaged in crop farming and gardening, and fishing activities employ greater proportion of hired workers. Wholesale and retail enterprises have greater proportion of hired workers.

 Evidences from the micro-level data provide strong indication that the rural nonagricultural activities have considerable direct employment effects in the survey areas.

## The results of the empirical model are as follows:

a) The probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities is significantly affected by the ownership of household-operated enterprises, non-labor income, and work location. The ownership of household-operated enterprises decreases the probability of labor force participation in rural nonagricultural activities. Likewise, non-labor income lessens the likelihood of rural labor force participation in such activities. Work location and proximity of the place of residence to the place of work strongly affects the probability of rural labor force participation in nonagricultural activities. The shorter the distances between the residence and work place, the greater the likelihood of labor force participation in rural nonagricultural activities. The human capital and demographic variables are insignificant in explaining the probability of labor force

participation of rural household members in nonagricultural activities.

- b) Wages are significantly affected by the age variable which serve as a proxy for years of work experience. However, the education dummy variables do not have significant impact on wages. This may imply low private returns to education in the rural areas.
- c) The rural nonagricultural labor supply in terms of hours of work is significantly affected by non-labor income in all equations. Hours of work decreases in response to non-labor income. These results reflect the dominance of the income effect and confirm the hypothesis that leisure is a normal good. The predicted wage has a positive and significant effect on hours of work in all equations. The rural nonagricultural labor supply in terms of work hour is inelastic with respect to wages. Among the demographic variables, children below 6 years of age has a significant negative impact only on female hours of work. Moreover, age has a positive significant effect only on the hours of work of females.

In terms of number of work weeks, non-labor income is found to have a negative effect on weeks work but the coefficients are significant only in the total and female equations. The coefficients of non-labor income are smaller relative to those in the hours of work equations. These imply a weaker supply response in terms of work week. Likewise, the predicted wage carried the expected sign but is significant only in the equations for the total and female workers. The rural labor supply in terms of work weeks is also inelastic with respect to wages. The magnitude of the elasticities suggests that work week is less responsive to wage rates relative to hours of work.

#### 8.2 CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

A number of important conclusions and policy implications emerge from the study.

Over the years, the rural nonagricultural activities have become important a) components of the rural economy in terms of employment and income generation. The rural nonagricultural sector has provided employment to a significant proportion of excess labor in the rural sector. Observations from the aggregate and micro-level survey data indicate a considerably high proportion of rural labor force in nonagricultural activities but a lower proportion in rural manufacturing. The observations also reveal that the economic activities in the rural nonagricultural sector are characterized by low productivity and are by their nature limited to the domestic markets. In particular, the case study using the micro-level data shows that retail trade and service activities which cater largely to local consumer demand dominate the rural nonagricultural sectors of the survey provinces. It is also quite evident that the rural nonagricultural sector is linked with the agricultural sector. To explore the full potential of the linkages between the agricultural and the rural nonagricultural sectors, policies and programs supporting the rural nonagricultural sector particularly rural manufacturing should be complemented with policies that will foster the growth of productivity and incomes in the agricultural sector.

- b) The growth of employment in rural nonagricultural activities is not influenced much by demand factors such as the availability of more productive nonagricultural activities. Employment in rural nonagricultural activities appears to be supply determined or characterized by the dominance of the push factors like limited access to agricultural productive resources, increasing rural labor force, increasing rural unemployment and underemployment, and widespread rural poverty. The findings also indicate that access to land determines agricultural employment and rural nonagricultural activities are of particular importance to small and landless rural households.
- c) In the more developed provinces like Cebu, the accessibility and proximity of rural households to urban centers have a significant direct employment effect on the rural workers. This type of rural-urban labor market link will be strengthened by better infrastructure and transportation facilities. Moreover, the empirical model reveals that work location is a significant factor affecting wage and labor supply in the rural areas of the survey provinces. This indicates that the development of rural infrastructure in these areas will generate opportunities for nonagricultural employment by improving rural workers' mobility.
- d) The analysis of the micro-level data reveal that the rural households' labor supply to nonagricultural activities is strongly but negatively influenced by non-labor income and opportunities for self-employment in household-operated nonagricultural enterprises. Policies that will provide incentives to these household-operated economic activities will not only ease the employment

74

problem in the survey provinces but will also transform these activities into more dynamic ones. This will pave the way for rural industrialization in the areas. Female labor supply responds strongly to demographic variables particularly the presence of young children in the household. Human capital variables like education do not have significant effects on rural labor supply. This may indicate that labor market opportunities in the rural nonagricultural sector of the survey areas require less education.

### FIGURE 5.1

INCOME SOURCES OF RURAL HOUSEHOLDS



\* AS - Agricultural Sources

\*\* AGRI - includes fishing, livestock production, hunting and forestry activities



TYPES OF LABOR IN INCOME-GENERATING ACTIVITIES



## RURAL POPULATION 1970-1992

.

Year	Population	% Share
	(000) a/	to Total
1970	25,007	68.2
1975	28,024	66.7
1980	30,155	62.7
1985	32,847	60.1
1990	35,245	57.3
1991	35,681	56.8
1992	36,114	56.2
	Average Annua	al
	Growth Rate (%	6)
1970-75 1975-80 1980-85 1985-90 1990-92	2.3 1.48 1.72 1.42 1.23	
1970-80 1980-90 1970-90	1.89 1.57 1.73	

a/ 1970, 1980, 1990 Census Source: NEDA 1992 Phil. Statistical Yearbook Tab5-1.wk1

# RURAL POPULATION 15 YEARS AND OVER, LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION RATE BY AGE GROUP: 1980, 1985 AND 1990

	1980		19	85	1990		
Age	Popn.	LFPR	Popn.	LFPR	Popn.	LFPR	
Group	15 Years	(%)	15 Years	(%)	15 Years	(%)	
	& Over		& Over		& Over		
	(000)		(000)		(000)		
TOTAL - RURAL	19,384	62.2	20,352	66.0	22,729	66.8	
15 10 Vooro	1 0 0 0	11.0	4.044		4.004	45.0	
15 – 19 fears	4,062	41.2	4,014	44.9	4,284	45.3	
20 – 24 Years	2,486	60.9	2,605	64.8	2,869	66.6	
25 – 34 Years	3,762	69.1	4,375	72.0	4,661	72.2	
35 – 44 Years	3,748	72.5	3,539	78.1	4,133	76.7	
45 – 54 Years	2,614	75.1	2,616	80.0	3,032	79.7	
55 – 64 Years	1,673	70.0	1,780	72.9	2,088	74.5	
65 Years & Over	1,267	48.4	1,421	44.6	1,659	49.7	
Not Reported	42	2.4	1	<u> </u>	3	-	

Source: Labor Force Survey, NSO, various years

Tab5-2.wk1

TABLE 5.3
RURAL LABOR FORCE AND EMPLOYMENT INDICATORS
1975-1990

	Year	Total	LFPR	Employed		Unen	nployed	Underemployed		
i		LF	(%)	No.	% of LF	No.	% of LF	No.	% of LF	
ĺ		(000)		(000)		(000)		(000)		
	1975	10,339	52.8	10,073	97.4	266	2.6	957	9.5	
	1980	12,056	62.2	11,614	96.3	442	3.7	2,691	23.2	
	1985	13,426	66.0	12,841	95,6	585	4.4	3,218	25.1	
	1990	15,185	66.8	14,273	93.6	948	6.4	3,089	25.4	

.

Source: NEDA, Philippine Statistical Yearbook, various years

Tab5-3.wk1

.

Note: All data on years 1975, 1980, and 1985 were based on the Third Quarter Reference period; 1990 data were based on Past Week Reference period

# DISTRIBUTION OF RURAL EMPLOYMENT IN AGRICULTURAL AND NON-AGRICULTURAL SECTORS (IN PERCENT)

YEAR	тот	TAL	M/	ALE	FEMALE		
	AGRI	NON-AGRI	AGRI	NON-AGRI	AGRI	NON-AGRI	
1971	66.3	33.7	74.9	25.1	45.6	54.4	
1975	73.0	27.0	80.1	19.2	54.5	45.5	
1980	67.9	32.1	75.2	24.8	52.2	47.8	
1985	66.6	33.4	74.8	25.2	50.7	49.3	
1990	64.2	35.8	71.6	28.4	49.5	• 50.5	

Source: NSO, Labor Force Survey, various years Note: 1971 & 1975 August; 1980 & 1985 Third Quarter; 1990 October Tab5-4.wk1

## DISTRIBUTION OF RURAL EMPLOYED WAGE AND SALARY WORKERS IN AGRICULTURAL AND NON-AGRICULTURAL SECTORS (IN PERCENT)

YEAR	то	TAL	м/	ALE	FEMALE		
	AGRI	AGRI NON-AGRI		NON-AGRI	AGRI	NON-AGRI	
1971	31.5	68.5	58.4	41.6	19.1	80.9	
1975	38.9	61.1	44.9	55.1	26.7	73.3	
1980	31.0	69.0	35.9	64.1	20.7	79.3	
1985	39.2	60.8	45.4	54.6	26.9	• 73.1	
1990	36.4	63.6	42.0	58.0	24.7	75.3	
L				1			

÷.

Source: NSO, Labor Force Survey, various years Tab5-5.wk1

	19	75	19	80	19	85	19	<del>.</del>
INDUSTRY GROUP	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%
AGRICULTURAL SECTOR	7,053	74.3	7,885	67.9	8,546	66.6	9,157	64.2
Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry	7,053	74.3	7,885	67.9	8,546	66.6	9,157	64.2
NONAGRICULTURAL SECTOR	2,422	25.5	3,725	32.0	4,295	33.5	5,107	35.9
INDUSTRIAL SECTOR	947	10.0	1,345	11.6	1,381	10.7	1,524	10.8
Mining & Quarrying Manufacturing Electricity, Gas & Water Construction	27 711 9 200	0.3 7.5 0.1 2.1	80 925 27 313	0.7 8.0 0.2 2.7	100 931 28 322	0.8 7.2 0.2 2.5	111 953 36 424	0.8 6.7 0.3 3.0
SERVICES SECTOR	1,475	15.5	2,380	20.4	2,914	22.8	3,583	25.1
Wholesale & Retail Trade Transport, Storage & Com. Financing, Insurance, Real Estate & Bus, Services	614 241	6.5 2.5	839 336 87	7.2 2.9 0.7	1,112 407 86	8.7 3.2 0.7	1,366 486 88	9.6 3.4
Community, Social & Personal Services	620	6.5	1,118	9.6	1,309	10.2	1,643	11.5
TOTAL	9,491	100.0	11,614	100.0	12,841	100.0	14,273	100.0

# RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR, INDUSTRY: 1975-1990

Note: 1975 Feb., 1980, 1985 3rd Quarter; 1990 Oct. Source: Labor Force Survey, NSO, various years

Tab5–6.wk1

# RURAL MANUFACTURING EMPLOYMENT, 1971-1988

SUB-INDUSTRY	NUMBER (000)				P	ERCENT D	IST. (%)	
	1971	1975	1985	1988	1971	1975	1985	1988
MANUFACTURING Manufacture of Food, Beverages	706	579	940	1,050	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
and Tobacco	74	90	207	214	10.5	15.5	22.0	20.4
Manufacture of Textile, Wearing								
Apparel and Leather	462	270	384	387	65.4	46.6	40.9	36.9
Manufacture of Wood and Wood								
Products, including Furniture and								
Fixtures	82	72	240	297	11.6	12.4	25.5	28.3
Manufacture of Paper and Paper							1	
Products; Printing and Publishing	6	6	6	11	0.8	1.0	0.6	1.0
Manufacture of Chemicals and								
Other Chemical Products,			ĺ					
Petroleum, Coal, Rubber and			[					
Plastic Products	6	13	18	17	0.8	2.2	1.9	1.6
Manufacture of Non-Metallic								
of Petroleurs and Ocal								
Monufacture of David Matul	11	14	21	21	1.6	2.4	2.2	2.0
Industries	_	_						
Monufacture of Falseland 114 - 1	5	5	12	8	0.7	0.9	1.3	0.8
Products Mechinemend Find								
Other Mfr. Induction	44	44	32	49	6.2	7.6	3.4	4.7
Other Mig. Industries	8	59	21	48	1.1	10.2	2.2	4.6

Figures are annual averages. Source: Integrated Survey of Households, NSO (various years) tab5-7.wk1

# RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY OCCUPATION, 1975-1990

MAJOR OCCUPATIONAL	197	1975		10	1985		1990	
GROUP	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%
Professional, Technical and	č					1	\/	
and Related Workers	241	2.5	460	4.0	504	3.9	584	4.1
Administrative, Executive and								
Managerial Workers	29	0.3	37	0.3	42	0.3	68	0.5
Clerical Workers	100	1.1	230	2.0	268	2.1	293	2.1
Sales Workers	590	6.2	844	7.3	1,100	8.6	1.316	9.2
Service Workers	292	3.1	467	4.0	597	4.6	785	5.5
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry, and Forestry workers, Fishermen								
and Hunters	7,025	74.0	7,838	67.5	8,466	65.9	9,037	63.3
Production and Related Workers, Transport Equipment Operators	:					•		
and Laborers	1,199	12.6	1,735	14.9	1,865	14.5	2,158	15.1
TOTAL	9,491	100.0	11,614	100.0	12,841	100.0	14,273	100.0

Source: Labor Force Survey, NSO, various years Tab5-8.wk1

# RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY CLASS OF WORKERS, 1975-1990

CLASS OF	1975		1980	)	1985		1990	
WORKERS	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
	(000)		(000)		(000)		(000)	
Wage and Salary Workers	2,548	26.8	3,498	30.1	4,315	33.6	5,001	35.0
Own-Account Workers	4,210	44.4	5,761	44.5	5,845	45.5	6,187	43.3
Unpaid Family Workers	2,720	28.7	2,954	25.4	2,681	20.9	3,085	21.6
TOTAL	9,491	100.0	11,614	100.0	12,841	100.0	14,273	100.0
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		PERCENTA(	GE CHAN	GE		P	
	1975-80		1980-85		1985-90			
Wage and Salary Workers	37.3		23.4		15.9			
Own-Account Workers	36.8		1.5		5.9			
Unpaid Family Workers	8.6		-9.2		15.1			
		l					· · · · · -	

Source: Labor Force Survey, NSO, various years Tab5-9.wk1

## TABLE 5.10 👘

## DISTRIBUTION OF RURAL EMPLOYMENT IN AGRICULTURE AND NON-AGRICULTURE BY CLASS OF WORKERS, 1975-1990

	1 <b>97</b> 5	1980	1985	1990
TOTAL AGRICULTURE 'NON-AGRICULTURE	74.3 25.7	67.9 32.1	66.6 33.4	64.2 35.8
WAGE AND SALARY WORKERS AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE	42.0 58.0	31.1 69.0	39.2 60.8	36.4 63.6
OWN-ACCOUNT WORKERS AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE	81.0 19.0	79.5 20.5	74.9 25.1	73.3 26.7
UNPAID FAMILY WORKERS AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE	94.4 5.6	91.2 8.8	92.4 7.0	90.8 9.2

Source: NSO, Labor Force Survey, various years Tab5-10.wk1

### DISTRIBUTION AND PERCENT CHANGE IN RURAL EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR AND CLASS OF WORKERS

SECTOR/		DISTRIBUTION (%)					PERCENT CHANGE			
CLASS OF WORKERS	1971	1975	1980	1985	1990	1971 – 1975	1975 1980	1980- 1985	1985— 1990	
AGRICULTURE	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	20.5	7.3	8.4	7.1	
Wage and Salary Workers	13.6	14.4	13.8	19.8	19.9	27.8	2.4	55.6	7.7	
Own-Account Workers	47.3	47.5	52.0	51.2	49.5	20.9	17.6	6.7	3.6	
Unpaid Family Workers	39.1	38.1	34.2	29.0	30.6	17.4	-3.6	-8.1	13.1	
NON-AGRICULTURE	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	-6.1	37.7	15.2	19.1	
Wage and Salary Workers	57.3	61.5	64.7	61.1	62.2	1.0	44.8	8.8	21.2	
Own–Account Workers	36.0	31.4	28.4	34.1	32.3	-18.2	24.5	38.7	12.7	
Unpaid Family Workers	6.7	7.1	6.9	4.7	5.6	0.0	34.2	-21.2	39.2	

Source: NSO, Labor Force Surveys Tab5-11.wk1

<u>с</u>

# Distribution of Rural Employment by Industry and Sex, 1975-1990

MAJOR INDUSTRY	1975		1980		1985		1990	
GROUP	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry	79.6	20.4	75.7	24.3	73.8	26.2	74.0	26.0
Mining and Quarrying	96.3	0.6	92.5	7.5	93.0	7.0	90.1	9.9
Manufacturing	41.9	58.1	46.5	53.4	43.9	56.1	50.6	49.4
Electricity, Gas and Water	100.0	-	92.6	7.4	78.6	21.4	80,6	19.4
Construction	99.0	1.0	98.7	1.0	98.4	1.6	98.3	1.7
Wholesale and Retail Trade	33.6	66.4	28.1	71.9	27.2	72.8	29.0	71.0
Tranport, Storage and Com.	97.9	2.1	98.5	1.5	97.5	2.5	98.8	1.2
Financing, Insurance, Real								
Estate and Bus. Services	-	_	74.7	25.3	70.9	29.1	67.0	33.0
Community, Social and Personal								
Services	43.9	56.8	44.9	55.1	39.6	60.4	44.0	56.0
							ľ	
TOTAL	72.3	27.7	68.3	31.7	65.6	34.4	66.3	33.7

Source: Labor Force Survey, NSO, various years Tab5-12.wk1

# TABLE 5.13 -

.

# DISTRIBUTION OF RURAL EMPLOYED PERSONS BY AGE GROUP

AGE	1980		19	85	1990		
GROUP	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	No. (000)	%	
TOTAL – RURAL	11,614	100.0	12,841	100.0	14,273	100.0	
15 – 19 YEARS 20 – 24 YEARS 25 – 34 YEARS 35 – 44 YEARS 45 – 54 YEARS 55 – 64 YEARS 65 YEARS & OVER	1,565 1,393 2,499 2,469 1,927 1,155 604	13.5 12.0 21.5 21.3 16.6 9.9 5.2	1,660 1,506 3,002 2,700 2,063 1,282 630	12.9 11.7 23.4 21.0 16.1 10.0 4.9	1,753 1,691 3,159 3,069 2,349 1,491 761	12.3 11.8 22.1 21.5 16.5 10.4 5.3	

Source: NSO Labor Force Surveys Tab5-13.wk1

### DISTRIBUTION OF FAMILIES AND INCOME IN THE RURAL SECTOR BY MAIN SOURCE OF INCOME: 1971, 1985, 1988

MAIN SOURCE		% FAMILII	ES	% INCOME			
OF INCOME	1971	1985	1988	1971	1985	1988	
RURAL							
Wages and Salaries Agriculture Non – Agriculture	33.1 14.0 19.0	32.7 12.9 19.8	37.1 13.4 23.7	35.1 10.6 24.5	34.0 9.8 24.2	41.9 10.5 31.4	
Entrepreneurial Activities	61.7	50.7	47.9	48.9	47.1	43.1	
AGRICULTURE Crop farming and Gardening Livestock and Poultry Raising Fishing, Forestry and Hunting	52.6 47.3 - 5.3	41.6 33.2 1.1 7.3	37.9 29.6 1.2 7.1	37.2 31.8 - 5.4	35.2 28.4 1.0 5.8	30.7 24.1 1.2 5.4	
INDUSTRY Mining and Quarrying Manufacturing Construction	2.7 - 2.7 -	2.1 0.3 1.7 0.1	2.4 0.4 1.7 0.3	2.8 - 2.8 -	2.1 0.3 2.0 0.1	2.3 0.3 1.8 0.2	
SERVICE Wholesale and Retail Trade Community, Social Services Transport, Storage & Com.	6.0 4.3 0.4 1.3	7.0 5.5 0.6 0.9	7.5 5.5 0.9 1.1	8.2 5.5 0.7 2.0	9.5 7.0 0.9 1.6	9.9 7.3 1.1 1.5	
Other Sources of Income	5.2	16.6	15.0	15.1	19.0	15.0	

÷.

Source: FIES, various years Tab5-14.wk1
.

## DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME AND FAMILIES IN THE RURAL SECTOR BY MAIN SOURCE

MAIN SOURCE	1971	1985	1988
		% INCOME	
AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE OTHER SOURCES	47.8 35.5 15.1	45.0 35.8 19.0	41.2 43.6 15.0
		% FAMILIES	
AGRICULTURE NON-AGRICULTURE OTHER SOURCES	66.6 27.7 5.2	54.5 28.9 16.6	51.3 33.6 15.0
Source: FIES, various ye	ars		

Tab5-15.wk1

.

## SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS OF THE FARM SECTOR, 1960-1991

	1960	1971	1980	1991
NUMBER OF FARMS	2,166,216	2,354,469	3,420,323	A/
FARM AREA (HA.)	7,772,485	8,493,735	9,725,200	10,002,163
NO. OF AGRICULTURAL OPERATORS	2,159,027	2,359,371	3,473,286	6,948,292
AVERAGE FARM AREA (HA.)	3.6	3.6	2.8	<b>. 1</b> .4

.

۰.

A/ Not available

Source: Census of Agriculture, various census years

Tab5-16.wk1

## AVERAGE DAILY WAGE RATES OF FARM WORKERS WITHOUT MEALS BY CROP, PHILIPPINES: 1974-1989 (PESOS)

	OMM CPI	F	Palay		Corn	Co	oconut	Sug	arcane	All	Crops
YEAR	(1978=100)	NOMINAL	REAL	NOMINAL	REAL	NOMINAL	REAL	NOMINAL	REAL	NOMINAL	REAL
1974	71.8	5.56	7,74	5.56	7.74	6.46	9.00	5.58	8,19	5.79	8.06
1975	76.6	6.59	8.60	8.41	8.37	7.33	9.57	7.78	10.16	7.14	9.32
1976	84.7	8.97	10.59	8.77	10.35	9.17	10.83	7.90	9.33	8.57	10.12
1977	93.3	9.86	10.57	9.35	10.02	9.95	10.66	7.96	10.68	9.98	10.70
1978	100.0	10.42	10.42	9.96	9.96	10.18	10.18	11.00	11.00	10.18	10.18
1979	117.2	10.71	9.14	10.38	8.86	10.62	9.06	11.85	9.81	10.68	9.11
1980	138.4	11.00	7.95	10.66	7.70	11.59	8.37	11.97	8.65	11.15	8.06
1981	156.8	11.91	7.60	10.80	6.89	13.45	8.58	12.88	8.21	12.38	7.90
1982	172.6	13.42	7.78	12.74	7.38	15.60	9.04	15.80	9.15	13.90	8.05
1983	189.3	15.85	8.37	15.20	8.03	17.75	9.38	18.95	10.01	16.33	8.63
1984	285.4	22.64	7.93	18.65	6.53	24.00	8.41	21.40	7.50	21.24	7.44
1985	352.7	30.20	8.56	22.07	6.26	28.18	7.99	26.75	7.58	27.46	7.79
1986	352.3	31.80	9.03	27.04	7.68	31.00	8.80	28.90	8.20	29.69	8.43
1987	363.6	32.44	8.92	28.01	7.70	35.36	9.72	33.93	9.33	31.62	8.70
1988	394.4	36.31	9.21	32.46	8.23	41.04	10.41	36.22	9.19	35.96	9.12
1989	437.0	41.98	9.61	37.89	8.69	47.49	10.87	42.20	9.66	41.72	9.55

n.a. -- not available

Source : Bureau of Agricultural Statistics, (various years) Tab5-17.wk1

## GROWTH RATES OF REAL AGRICULTURAL WAGES OF FARM WORKERS (IN PERCENT)

PERIOD	PALAY	CORN	COCONUT	SUGARCANE	ALL CROPS
1974-75	11.1	8.1	6.3	24.1	15.6
1975-76	23.1	23.7	13.2	-8.2	8.6
1976-77	-0.2	-3.2	-1.6	14.5	5.7
1977-78	-1.4	-0.1	-4.5	3.0	-4.9
1978-79	-12.3	-11.0	-11.0	-10.8	-10.5
1979-80	-13.0	-13.1	-7.6		-11.5
1980-81	-4.0	-10.5	2.5	-5.1	-2.0
1981-82	2.4	7.1	5.4	11.4	1.9
1982-83	7,6	8.8	3.8	9.4	7.2
1983-84	-5.3	18.7	-10.3	-25.1	-13.8
1984-85	7.9	-4.1	-5.0	1.1	4.7
1985-86	5.5	22.7	10.1	8.2	8.2
1986-87	-1.2	0.3	10.5	13.8	3.2
1987-88	3.3	6.9	7.1	-1.5	4.8
1988-89	4.3	5.6	4.4	5.1	4.7
				į (	

v

Source: Computed from Table 5.17 TAB5-18.WK1

## **PROFILE OF SAMPLE PROVINCES**

	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL
NUMBER OF: CITIES MUNICIPALITIES BARANGAYS	1 46 1,996	6 26 656	5 48 1,193	1 47 1,114
LAND AREA (HECTARES)	532,397	792,607	508,839	411,726
POPULATION a/	1,765,476	2,256,908	2,645,735	948,315
POPULATION GROWTH RATE b/	2.1	1.6	2.4	1.6
RURAL POPULATION c/	1,038,126	1,232,878	1,166,048	683,099
PERCENT OF RURAL HOUSEHOLDS TO TOTAL NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS (%)	72.8	64.9	• 57.4	85.3

a/ 1990 Census of Population and Housing

b/ Average Annual Growth Rate 1980-1990

c/ 1980 Census of Population and Housing

Sources: Census of Population and Housing 1980 & 1990

Provincial Profile of the Philippines, (DA), 1988 tab6-1.wk1

		PRO	VINCE		τοται
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL	
NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS	112	129	132	78	451
HOUSEHOLD POPULATION	607	720	649	398	2,374
WORKING AGE POPULATION	418	464	410	264	1,556
LABOR FORCE	205	242	231	135	813
LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION RATE (%)	49.0	52.2	56.3	51.1	52.2
EMPLOYED PERSONS	182	206	209	128	725
EMPLOYMENT RATE (%)	88.8	85.1	90.5	94.8	89.2
UNEMPLOYED PERSONS	23	36	22	7	88
UNEMPLOYMENT RATE (%)	11.2	14.9	9.5	5.2	10.8
AVERAGE FAMILY SIZE	5.4	5.6	4.9	5.1	5.2
DEPENDENCY BURDEN a/	45.2	55.2	58.3	50,8	52.6
% OF LANDLESS HOUSEHOLDS	63.4	93.0	56.8	44.1	64.3

۰.

.

## CHARACTERISTICS OF SAMPLE RURAL HOUSEHOLDS

a/ Population below 15 year old and above 65/WAP x 100 Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-2.wk1

## WORKING AGE POPULATION BY SEX

		TOTAL							
ILOILO	С	NEGRO OCCIDE	OS NTAL	CEBU	J	BOHC	)L		
No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
184	44	222	47.8	193	47.1	123	46.6	722	46.4
234	56	242	52.2	217	52.9	141	53.4	834	53.6
418		464		410		264		1,556	
-	ILOILO No. 184 234 418	ILOILO No. % 184 44 234 56 418	ILOILO     NEGRO OCCIDE       No.     %       184     44       234     56       234     56       418     464	ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL     No.   %     184   44   222   47.8     234   56   242   52.2     418   464   464	ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL   CEBU     No.   %   No.   %     184   44   222   47.8   193     234   56   242   52.2   217     418   464   410	PROVINCE     ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL   CEBU     No.   %   No.   %     184   44   222   47.8   193   47.1     234   56   242   52.2   217   52.9     418   464   410   410	PROVINCE     ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL   CEBU   BOHO     No.   %   No.   %   No.     184   44   222   47.8   193   47.1   123     234   56   242   52.2   217   52.9   141     418   464   410   264	PROVINCE     ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL   CEBU   BOHOL     No.   %   No.   %   No.   %     184   44   222   47.8   193   47.1   123   46.6     234   56   242   52.2   217   52.9   141   53.4     418   464   410   264   410   264   410   264	PROVINCE     ILOILO   NEGROS OCCIDENTAL   CEBU   BOHOL     No.   %   No.   %   No.   %   No.     184   44   222   47.8   193   47.1   123   46.6   722     234   56   242   52.2   217   52.9   141   53.4   834     418   464   410   264   1,556

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-3.wk1

## WORK PATTERNS OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS

		PROVI	NCE		τοται
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCCIDENTAL	CEBU	BOHOL	
Average Age Started Working	28	28	22	24	
Number of Household Members Who Worked in the Past				:	•
Quarter	182	206	209	128	725
% of Labor Force	88.8	85.1	90.5	94.8	89.2

Source; DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-4.wk1

## DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO ARE NOT WORKING

	PR				
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCCIDENTAL	CEBU	BOHOL	TOTAL
Number of Household Members Looking					
for Work	23	36	22	7	88
% of Labor Force	11.2	14.9	9.5	5.2	10.8
Number of Household Members Not Looking for Work	244	407	272	132	. 1,055
% of Household Population	40.2	56.5	41.9	33.2	44.4
Average Number of Months of Search (in months)	23.5	13.7	5.3	14.1	14.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-5.wk1

## Distribution of Employed Household Members by Classification Agriculture and Non-Agriculture by Province

					<u> </u>	Classif	ication	-						
			Agric	ulture				N	on-Ag	ricultu	re			
		Ş	Sex					Sex					Total	
Province	Ma	Male Female		Total		Male		Female		Total				
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
lloilo	25	86.2	4	13.8	29	15.4	86	54.1	73	45.9	159	84.6	188	25.6
Negros Occidental	8	80.0	2	20.0	10	4.8	116	58.6	82	41.4	198	95.2	208	28.4
Cebu	29	93.5	2	6.5	31	14.8	106	59.6	72	40.4	178	85.2	209	28.5
Bohol	31	96.9	1	3.1	32	25.0	40	41.7	56	58.3	96	75.0	128	17.5
Total	93		9		102		348		283		631		733	

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-6.wk1

## Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Industry Group by Province

						Prov	ince						
		lloilo		Neg	ros Occid	ental		Cebu					
	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		
Major Ind. Group	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Total
Agri., Fish., For.	26	5	31	13	5	18	30	2	32	31	1	32	113
Manufacturing	20	3	23	13	1	14	37	29	66	6	12	18	121
Elec.,Gas & Water	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Construction	14	0	14	14	0	14	13	0	13	4	· 0	4	45
Wholesale & R Trade	15	29	44	24	40	64	11	14	25	8	13	21	154
Transportation	2	1	3	15	1	16	19	1	20	• 5	0	5	44
Financing	0	0	0	2	3	5	3	2	5	1	1	2	12
Services	31	30	61	42	32	74	18	24	42	14	26	40	217
Ind. Inadec. Def.	4	3	7	0	1	1	3	2	5	2	1	3	16
Total	113	71	184	124	83	207	135	74	209	71	54	125	725

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-7.wk1

# Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Industry Group by Province

						Prov	ince						
Major		lloilo		Neg	ros Occid	ental		Cebu			Bohol		
Industry	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		Se	эx		
Group	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Total
Agri.,Fish., For.	23.0	7.0	16.8	10,5	6.0	8.7	22.2	2.7	15.3	43.7	1.9	25.6	15.6
Manufacturing	17.7	4.2	12.5	10.5	1.2	6.8	27.4	39.2	31.6	8.5	22.2	14.4	16.7
Elec., Gas & Water	0.9	0.0	0.5	0.8	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3
Construction	12.4	0.0	7.6	11.3	0.0	6.8	9,6	0.0	6.2	• 5.6	0.0	3.2	6.2
Wholesale & R Trade	13.3	40.8	23.9	19.4	48.2	30.9	8.1	18.9	12.0	11.3	24.1	16.8	21.2
Transportation	1.8	1.4	1.6	12.1	1.2	7.7	14.1	1.4	9.6	7.0	0.0	4.0	6.1
Financing	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6	3.6	2.4	2.2	2.7	2.4	1.4	1.9	1.6	1.7
Services	27.4	42.3	33.2	33.9	38.6	35.7	13.3	32.4	20.1	19.7	48.1	32.0	29,9
Ind. Inadec. Def.	3.5	4.2	3.8	0.0	1.2	0.5	2.2	2.7	2.4	2.8	1.9	2.4	2.2
								1				ľ	
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-8.wk1

## Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Occupational Group by Sex

						Prov	ince						
Major		lloilo		Neg	ros Occid	ental		Cebu			Bohol		Total
Occupation	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		
Group	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
						Ì							
Prof.,Tech. Worker	11	12	23	3	17	20	3	9	12	5	. 16	21	76
Ad.,Exec.,Man. Wker	2	2	4	3	1	4	1	0	1	1	ol	1	10
Clerical Worker	4	8	12	18	14	32	2	5	7	7	4	11	62
Sales Worker	13	26	39	21	37	58	11	15	26	8	14	22	145
Service Worker	12	19	31	10	10	20	5	16	21	1	10	11	83
Ag.,Fish. Worker	25	4	29	8	2	10	29	2	31	31	1	32	102
Prod., Trans., Lab.	43	6	49	61	3	64	84	27	111	18	12	30	254
Members of the AFP	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Total	111	77	188	124	84	208	135	74	209	71	57	128	733

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-9.wk1

## Distribution of Employed Household Members by Major Occupational Group by Sex

		-				Prov	ince						
Major		lloilo		Neg	ros Occido	ental		Cebu			Bohol		Total
Occupation	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		ļ
Group	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
							-						
		15.0	(0.0)									10.4	10.4
Prof., Lech. Worker	9.9	15.6	12.2	2.4	20.2	9.6	2.2	12.2	5.7	7.0	28.1	16.4	10.4
Ad.,Exec.,Man. Wker	1.8	2.6	2.1	2.4	1.2	1.9	0.7	0.0	0.5	1.4	0.0	0.8	1.4
Clerical Worker	3.6	10.4	6.4	14.5	16.7	15.4	1.5	6.8	3.3,	9.9	7.0	8.6	8.5
Sales Worker	11.7	33.8	20.7	16.9	44.0	27.9	8.1	20.3	12.4	11.3	24.6	17.2	19.8
Service Worker	10.8	24,7	16.5	8.1	11.9	9.6	3.7	21.6	10.0	1.4	17.5	8.6	11.3
Ag.,Fish. Worker	22.5	5.2	15.4	6.5	2.4	4.8	21.5	2.7	14.8	43.7	1.8	25.0	13.9
Prod., Trans., Lab.	38.7	7.8	26.1	49.2	3.6	30.8	62.2	36.5	53.1	25.4	21.1	23.4	34.7
Members of the AFP	0.9	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-10.wk1

# Distribution of Employed Household Members by Class of Worker by Province

						Class of	f Worker	*					
Province	Wage 8	& Salary	Worker	Self	-Emplo	yed	Unpaid	I Family \	Norker		Others		Total
	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		S	ex	-	
	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
lloilo	39	26	65	25	19	44	24	18	42	23	14	37	188
Negros Occ.	66	31	97	19	16	35	30	33	63	9	4	13	208
Cebu	73	42	115	5	7	12	43	15	58	14	10	24	209
Bohol	15	17	32	13	17	30	32	21	53	11	2	13	128
							:						
Total	193	116	309	62	59	121	129	87	216	57	30	87	733

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Household Tab6-11.wk1

## Distribution of Employed Household Members by Class of Worker by Province

						Class of	f Worke	r					
Province	Wage	& Salary	Worker	Sel	f-Emplo	yed	Unpaid	Family \	Vorker		Others		Total
	S	ex		S	ex		S	ex		S	iex		
	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
lloilo	60.0	40.0	34.6	56.8	43.2	23.4	57.1	42.9	22.3	62.2	37.8	19.7	25.6
Negros Occ.	68.0	32.0	46.6	54.3	45.7	16.8	47.6	52.4	30.3	69.2	30,8	6.3	28.4
Cebu	63.5	36.5	55.0	41.7	58.3	5.7	74.1	25.9	27.8	58.3	41.7	11.5	28.5
Bohol	46.9	53.1	25.0	43.3	56.7	23.4	60.4	39.6	41.4	84.6	15.4	10.2	17.5
Total	62.5	37.5	42.2	51.2	48.8	16.5	59.7	40.3	29.5	65.5	34.5	11.9	100.0
Source: DDD S	un cour of	Dural Lla	أبامامممي	1000									

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Househild: 1992

Tab6-12.wk1

#### TABLE 6.13-A

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO WORKED **DURING THE PAST WEEK BY PRIMARY** OCCUPATION AND BY CLASS OF WORKER

				CLAS		ORKER					тс	DTAL
OCCUPATION	Work Pri Emp	ed for vate loyee	Work Govt Corpo	ed for /Govt oration	Self-E w/c Emp	mployed any lloyee	Emp	bloyer	Un Fa Wo	paid mily orker		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical and Related Workers Administrative, Executive	33	35.9	2	5.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	35	21.0
and Managerial Workers Clerical and Related	4	4.3	3	7.5	1	3,3	0	0.0	0	0.0	8	<sup>~</sup> 4.8
Workers	2	2.2	1	2.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	3	1.8
Sales Workers	5	5.4	22	55.0	8	26.7	2	66.7	1	50.0	38	22.8
Service Workers Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen	11	12.0	1	2.5	1	3.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	13	7.8
and Hunters Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators	4	4.3	5	12.5	14	46.7	1	33.3	0	0.0	24	14.4
and Laborers	33	35.9	6	15.0	6	20.0	0	0.0	1	50.0	46	27.5
TOTAL	92	100.0	40	100.0	30	100.0	3	100.0	2	100.0	167	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-13a.wk1

#### TABLE 6.13-B

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO WORKED **DURING THE PAST WEEK BY PRIMARY** OCCUPATION AND BY CLASS OF WORKER

OCCUPATION	Work	ced for	Work	NEGR CLAS ced for	OS OCC SS OF W Self-E	IDENTAL ORKER mployed	- Emp	bloyer	Unp Fan	aid	тс	DTAL
	Emp	loyee	Corp	oration	Emp	oloyee			Wor	ker		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical												
and Related Workers	39	33.9	1	1.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0	40	20.4
Administrative, Executive			·		•	0.0	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	•	-	-		
and Managerial Workers	7	6.1	2	2.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0	• 9	4.6
Clerical and Related												
Workers	11	9.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	.0	0	11	5.6
Sales Workers	9	7.8	45	63.4	5	71.4	0	0.0	0	0	59	30.1
Service Workers	31	27.0	10	14.1	0	0.0	1	33.3	0	0	42	21.4
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry												
and Forestry Workers, Fishermen			_				_		•			
and Hunters Production and Polated Workers	4	3.5	5	7.0	2	28.6	0	0.0	0	0	11	5.6
Transport Equipment Operators												Ì
and Laborers	14	12.2	9	11 2	0	0.0	n	66.7	0	0	24	12.2
and Laborers	14	12.2	0	11.5	U	0.0	2	00.7	U	U	24	12.2
TOTAL	115	100.0	71	100.0	7	100.0	3	100.0	0	0	196	100.0
			• •		•	,	ĩ		Ŭ	Ĩ		

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-13b.wk1

## TABLE 6.13-C

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO WORKED DURING THE PAST WEEK BY PRIMARY OCCUPATION AND BY CLASS OF WORKER

					CEBU							
				CLAS	SS OF WO	DRKER					тс	DTAL
	Work Pri Emp	ted for vate loyee	Work Govi Corpo	ed for /Govt pration	Self—Ei w/o Emp	mployed any loyee	Emp	loyer	Un Fa Wo	paid mily rker		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical												
and Related Workers	10	8.5	1	1.9	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	11	5.8
Administrative, Executive					-		_		_			
and Managerial Workers	2	1.7	1	1.9	2	25.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	. 5	2.6
Clerical and Related				-							-	
Workers	12	10.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	12	6.3
Sales Workers	11	9.4	16	30.8	0	0.0	6	50.0	<b>'</b> 0	0.0	33	17.4
Service Workers	21	17.9	8	15.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	29	15.3
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen												
and Hunters Production and Related Workers Transport Equipment Operators	3	2.6	15	28.8	2	25.0	3	25.0	1	100.0	24	12.6
and Laborers	58	49.6	11	21.2	4	50.0	3	25.0	0	0.0	76	40.0
TOTAL	117	100.0	52	100.0	8	100.0	12	100.0	1	100.0	190	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-13c.wk1

## TABLE 6.13-D

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO WORKED **DURING THE PAST WEEK BY PRIMARY OCCUPATION AND BY CLASS OF WORKER**

					BC	HOL						
OCCUPATION					CLASS O	FWORK	ER				] т	otal
	Work Pri Emp	ted for vate loyee	Work Govi Corpo	ed for /Govt oration	Self-E w/o Emp	mployed any loyee	Emp	oloyer	Unp Fan Wor	oaid nily ker		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical												
and Related Workers	22	44.9	1	1.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0	23	19.8
Administrative, Executive	n											
and Managerial Workers	0	0.0	1	1.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0	1	0.9
Clerical and Related												
Workers	1	2.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	<b>'</b> 0	0	1	0.9
Sales Workers	2	4.1	14	25.0	1	11.1	0	0.0	0	0	17	14.7
Service Workers	14	28.6	8	14.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0	22	19.0
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry												
and Forestry Workers, Fishermen	5	10.2	15	26.8	8	88.9	0	0.0	0	0	28	24.1
Production and Related Workers						ł						
Transport, Equipment Operators		ľ										
and Laborers	5	10.2	17	30.4	0	0.0	2	100.0	0	0	24	20.7
TOTAL	49	100.0	56	100.0	9	100.0	2	100.0	0	0	116	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-13d.wk1

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS BY LOCATION WHERE PRIMARY OCCUPATION IS CARRIED OUT

				PRO	VINCE				 то	ΤΔΙ
WORK LOCATION	ILC	DILO	NE OCCII	GROS DENTAL	C	EBU	BC	HOL		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Own Home/Immediate Neighborhood Same Barangay of	40	23.8	44	22.4	45	24.9	64	44.4	193	28.0
Immediate Neighborhood Different Barangay	47	28.0	45	23.0	45	24.9	43	29.9	180	26.1
Municipality Different Municipality but in the same	51	30.4	51	26.0	36	19.9	21	14.6	159	23.1
Province Different Province	29	17.3	55	28.1	53	29.3	16	11.1	153	22.2
outside Visayas At Various Locations in the Province or	1	0.6	1	0.5	1	0.6	0	—	3	0.4
in the Visayas	0		0	_	1	0.6	0	_	1	0.1
TOTAL	168	100.0	196	100.0	181	100.0	144	100.0	689	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-14.wk1

## TABLE 6.16-A

#### DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WITH SECONDARY OCCUPATION BY OCCUPATION AND CLASS OF WORKER

					ILC	DILO						-
OCCUPATION		-		CLAS	SS OF WO	DRKER					т	otal
	Work Pri Emp	aid nily ker										
	No.	%	No.	%								
Professional, Technical and Related Workers Administrative, Executive and Managerial Workers Clerical and Related Workers Sales Workers Service Workers Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Executive Workers	0 0 0 0 0	0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	0 0 2 0	0.0 0.0 0.0 28.6 0.0	0 0 1 0	0.0 0.0 7.1 0.0		0 0 0 0 0	0 0 .0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 3 0	0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 0.0
and Hunters Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators	0	0.0	4	57.1	11	78.6	0	0	0	0	15	62.5
and Laborers	3	100.0	1	14.3	2	14.3	0	0	0	0	6	25.0
TOTAL	3	100.0	7	100.0	14	100.0	0	o	0	0	24	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-16A.WK1

#### TABLE 6.16-B

#### DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WITH SECONDARY OCCUPATION BY OCCUPATION AND CLASS OF WORKER

				NE	GROS O	CCIDEN.	TAL					
OCCUPATION				CLAS	SS OF WO	RKER					т	
	Worke Priv Emple	ed for ate oyee	Work Govt Corpe	ed for /Govt oration	Self-En w/o Emple	nployed any oyee	Emp	loyer	Unp Fan Wor	aid nily ker		
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical											:	
and Related Workers	0	0.0	1	16.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	12.5
Administrative, Executive			-		-		-					
and Managerial Workers	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	50.0	0	0.0	. 1	12.5
Clerical and Related												
Workers	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Sales Workers	0	0.0	2	33.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	<b>`</b> 0	0.0	2	25.0
Service Workers	0	0.0	1	16.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	12.5
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen	0				0				•			
And Humers Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators	U	0.0	U	0.0	U	0.0	U	0.0	U	0.0	U	0.0
and Laborers	0	0.0	2	33.3	0	0.0	1	50.0	0	0.0	3	37.5
TOTAL	0	0.0	6	100.0	0	0.0	2	100.0	0	0.0	8	100.0

11

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-16b.wk1

#### TABLE 6.16-C

#### DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WITH SECONDARY OCCUPATION BY OCCUPATION AND CLASS OF WORKER

				CLAS	CEBU	DRKER					тс	TAL
OCCUPATION	Work Pri Emp	ted for vate loyee	Work Govi Corp	ed for /Govt oration	Self-Er w/o Empl	nployed any loyee	Empl	oyer	Unp Farr Wor	aid nily ker		
	No,	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Professional, Technical and Related Workers Administrative, Executive	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
and Managerial Workers Clerical and Related	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	· 0	0.0
Workers	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	.0	0.0	0	0.0
Sales Workers	2	50.0	0	0.0	1	25.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	3	30.0
Service Workers Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
and Hunters Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators	1	25.0	3	75.0	1	25.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	5	50.0
and Laborers	1	25.0	1	25.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	2	20.0
TOTAL	4	100.0	4	100.0	2	50.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	10	100.0

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-16c.wk1

#### TABLE 6.16-D

#### DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WITH SECONDARY OCCUPATION BY OCCUPATION AND CLASS OF WORKER

OCCUPATION		BOHOL CLASS OF WORKER													
	Worl Pri Emp	ked for wate bloyee	Work Govi Corp	ed for t/Govt oration	Self—E w/ Emj	Employed o any ployee	Emp	oloyer	Un Fa Wo	ipaid imily orker					
	No.	%	No.	%	No. %		No.	%	No.	%	No.	%			
Professional, Technical and Related Workers Administrative, Executive	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	o	0.0	0	0.0			
and Managerial Workers Clerical and Related	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	∉0	0.0			
Workers	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0			
Sales Workers	1	33.3	3	30.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	4	26.7			
Service Workers Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen	1	33.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	100.0	0	0.0	2	13,3			
and Hunters Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators	0	0.0	4	40.0	1	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	5	33.3			
and Laborers	1	1 33.3		30.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	4	26.7			
TOTAL	3	100.0	10	100.0	1	100.0	1	100.0	0	0.0	15	100.0			

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-16d.wk1

## AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE/SALARY OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBER BY PRIMARY OCCUPATION AND BY PROVINCE (IN PESOS)

OCCUPATION	- PROVINCE										
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL							
Professional, Technical	1,991.8	829.1	495.1	3,121.8							
and Related Workers	(1466.3)	(605.4)	(534.7)	(930.3)							
Administrative, Executive	1,381.2	2,102.4	1,000.0	2,880.0							
and Managerial Workers	(1072.4)	(3222.4)	(1414.2)	—							
Clerical and Related	1,600.0	593.2	512.9	1,200.0							
Workers	(2116.6)	(200.7)	(671.8)	—							
Sales Workers	874.9	407.4	343.8	175.3							
	(1366)	(578.9)	(429.7)	(450.4)							
Service Workers	1,160.2	448.5	383.6	736.9							
	(1477.7)	(348)	(786.3)	(1082.3)							
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen and Hunters	177.0 (256.1)	449.9 (479.7)	80.0 (105.5)	132.3 (175.9)							
Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators and Laborers	569.4 (1006.6)	502.7 (320.4)	332.6 (317.5)	276.9 (523.8)							
TOTAL	984.0	617.4	348.8	731.8							

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 \* Numbers in parenthesis are standard deviation

Tab6-15.wk1

## AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE/SALARY OF EMPLOYED HOUSEHOLD MEMBER IN SECONDARY OCCUPATION (IN PESOS)

OCCUPATION	-	PRO	VINCE	
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL
Professional, Technical and Related Workers		250.0		
Administrative, Executive and Managerial Workers		2,325.0		
Clerical and Related Workers				
Sales Workers	166.7 (152.8)	87.5 (123.7)	149.3 (133.1)	31.2 (31.7)
Service Workers		-		35.0 (7.1)
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen and Hunters	356.7 (1152.5)		60.0 (134.2)	20.0 (44.7)
Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators and Laborers	212.5 (392.4)	16.7 (28.9)	690.0 (551.5)	146.2 (179.0)
TOTAL	296.9 (922.1)	425.0 (933.3)	212.8 (332.6)	58.7 (103.3)

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 \*Numbers in parenthesis are standard deviation Tab6-17.wk1

## AVERAGE WEEKLY EARNINGS OF WORKERS IN AGRICULTURAL AND NON-AGRICULTURAL ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES BY PROVINCE • (PAST WEEK; IN PESOS)

PROVINCE	AGRICUL	TURE	NON-AGRICULTURE							
	CASH	KIND	CASH	KIND						
ILOILO	-		1,550.2 (1320.1)	_						
NEGROS OCCIDENTAL	445.2 (318.6)	22.2 (11.3)	674.8 (413.3)	34.0 (20.3)						
CEBU	653.3 (435.8)	346.7 (219.1)	807.6 (617.5)	37.0 (28.5)						
BOHOL	685.0 (280.1)	-	2,221.0 (1,800.5)							
TOTAL	544.2	77.5	1,129.5	_						

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Note: Figures in parenthesis are standard deviation Tab6-18.wk1

#### **AVERAGE WEEKLY EARNINGS OF WORKERS IN** NON-AGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES BY INDUSTRY AND PROVINCE (PAST WEEK)

				PR	OVINCE			
INDUSTRY	ILO	ILO	NEGR	OS OCC.	CE	BU	BC	HOL
	CASH	KIND	CASH	KIND	CASH	KIND	CASH	KIND
Manufacturing	635.7 (603.4)	-	817.5 (513.7)	40.0 (38.1)	576.2 (418.1)		480.0 (335.5)	-
Construction	602.6 (513.0)	-	536.3 (409.7)	- -	555.6 (520.7)		1,680.0 (1,288.9)	_ _
Transportation	720.0 (301.0)		577.5 (318.0)		761.2 (526.9)	-	1,663.3 (1,569.4)	-
Services	2,016.9 (2,003.1)	_	719.3 (610.4)	-	783.6 (650.0)	37.0 (50.1)	2,479.8 (2,317.1)	_ _
Wholesale & Retail Trade	858.3 (415.1)		486.9 (325.4)	28.0 (55.2)	1,650.8 (1,598.7)	- -	1,200.0 (1,001.1)	- -
Financing	-		416.7 (532.8)		1,478.0 (1,202.6)	-	3,450.0 (2,853.4)	-

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Note: Figures in parenthesis are standard deviation Tab6-19.wk1

•

.

.

## WAGE LABOR IN SAMPLE PROVINCES

		PRON	VINCE		τοται
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL	, one
TOTAL SAMPLE HOUSEHOLDS	132	78	112	129	451
NUMBER OF WAGE AND SALARY WORKERS	65	97	115	32	309
% OF WAGE WORKERS TO TOTAL EMPLOYMENT	34.6	46.6	55.0	25.0	42.2

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-20.wk1

## DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS WHO WORKED AS WAGE/SALARY WORKERS BY OCCUPATION AND PROVINCE

OCCUPATION			TOTAL								
	ILC	DILO	NÈG	OCC.	C	EBU	BC	HOL			
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	
Professional, Technical											
and Related Workers	19	18.8	19	15.3	12	9.0	21	33.9	71	16.9	
Administrative, Executive										10	
and Managerial Workers	2	2.0	1	0.8	1	0.7	0	_	4	1.0	
Workers	5	5.0	16	129	5	37	7	113	33	78	
Sales Workers	7	7.0	,0 8	6.5	7	5.2	6	9.7	28	6.7	
Service Workers	27	26.7	34	27.4	13	9.7	'11	17.7	85	20.2	
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen											
and Hunters	6	5.9	2	1.6	4	3.0	2	3.2	14	3.3	
Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators											
and Laborers	35	34.7	44	35.5	92	68.7	15	24.2	186	44.2	
TOTAL	101	100.0	124	100.0	134	100.0	62	100.0	421	100.0	

1

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-21.wk1

## AVERAGE NUMBER OF HOURS WORKED OF WAGE/SALARY WORKERS BY OCCUPATION AND PROVINCE (PAST WEEK)

OCCUPATION	PRC	VINCE	•		τοται
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL	101AL
Professional, Technical	37.8	40.7	39.6	37.7	38.9
and Related Workers	(9.7)	(9.5)	(10.9)	(10.5)	(9.9)
Administrative, Executive	28.0	48.0	40.0	-	36.0
and Managerial Workers	(28.3)	—	—		(19.1)
Clerical and Related	41.6	42.3	41.0	47.7	43.2
Workers	(3.6)	(9.6)	(8.4)	(10.8)	(9.1)
Sales Workers	45.9	61.3	46.6	40.0	48.1
	(25.0)	(11.7)	(12.8)	(21.0)	(20.2)
Service Workers	36.3	47.2	44.8	39.3	48.5
	(23.2)	(16.2)	(35.3)	(43.5)	(30.6)
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry, and Forestry Workers, Fishermen and Hunters	40.2 (14.8)	30.0 (25.5)	33.5 (20.0)	28.0 (17.0)	35.1 (16.5)
Production and Related Workers, Transport, Equipment Operators	00.5				
and Laborers	38.5	45.3	45.2	34.3	43.1
	(21.5)	(15.9)	(16.1)	(18.9)	(17.7)
TOTAL	38.1	45.6	48.0	38.2	43.4
	(19.6)	(14.8)	(21.8)	(22.3)	(19.9)

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Note: Figures in parenthesis are standard deviation Tab6-22.wk1

## AVERAGE WEEKLY AMOUNT RECEIVED OF WAGE/SALARY WORKERS BY OCCUPATION AND PROVINCE (PAST WEEK)

		·			
OCCUPATION		PRC	VINCE		Total
	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL	
Professional, Technical and Related Workers	808.2 (715.0)	750.0 (635.1)	560.5 (511.0)	905.5 (889.1)	779.5
Administrative, Executive and Managerial Workers	836.3 (908.3)	1,500.0 (1,738.0)	1,500.0 (1607.1)		1,168.1
Clerical and Related Workers	697.7 (531.1)	551.0 (502.7)	578.0 (488.7)	1,032.9 (1,200.7)	679.5
Sales Workers	228.6 (100.5)	478.6 (438.9)	705.7 (673.1)	303.3 (292.0)	435.3
Service Workers	523.7 (334.5)	501.5 (476.6)	191.2 (301.1)	317.6 (281.3)	437.3
Agricultural, Animal Husbandry and Forestry Workers, Fishermen and Hunters	216.6 (157.8)	50.0 (69.1)	222.5 (250.1)	190.0 (203.7)	190.7
Production and Related Workers Transport, Equipment Operators and Laborers	488.6 (303.6)	628.7 (599.8)	394.0 (301.1)	310.0 (298.1)	460.6
TOTAL	548.1	590.4	415.5	590,1	524.6

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-23.wk1

#### DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS ENGAGED IN ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES BY TYPE OF ACTIVITY

		TOTAL									
ACTIVITY	ilc	DILO	NEGR	os occ	. Cl	EBU	BO	HOL			
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	
Crop Farming & Gardening	6	6.7	4	6.2	10	20.8	6	12.5	26	10.4	
Livestock & Poultry	24	27.0	2	3.1	6	12.5	7	14.6	39	15.6	
Fishing	8	9.0	4	6.2	_	10.4	7	14.6	24	9.6	
Manufacturing	8	9.0	4	6.2	5	14.6	9	18.8	28	11.2	
Wholesale & Retail Trade	39	43.8	45	69.2		27.1	16	33.3	113	45.2	
Transport, Storage & Com.	2 2.2 4 6.2 4.2 0	0.0	8	3.2							
Construction	0	0.0	o	4 0.2 2   0 0.0 2.1	о	0.0	1	0.4			
Services	1	1.1	2	3.1	1	4.2	о	0.0	5	2.0	
Other Non–Agr'l. Activities	1	1.1	о	0.0	2	4.2	3	6.2	6	2.4	
TOTAL	89	100.0	65	100.0	2 48	100.0	48	100.0	250	100.0	

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-24.wk1

## EMPLOYMENT IN HOUSEHOLD-OPERATED ECONOMIC ACTIVITY BY TYPE OF LABOR

TYPE	ILC	Total								
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No,	%	No.	%
HIRED	42	44.7	45	57	16	25.4	13	41.9	116	43.4
FAMILY	52	55.3	34	43	47	74.6	18	58.1	151	56.6
TOTAL	94		79		63		31		267	

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992

Tab6-25.wk1

## EMPLOYMENT IN HOUSEHOLD – OPERATED ECONOMIC ACTIVITY BY TYPE OF ACTIVITY AND TYPE OF LABOR

TYPE		PROVINCE															TOTAL													
			ĪL	OILO			l		NEGR	os oc	C.				C	EBU				_	- B(	DHOL			1					
	Н	RED	F/	MILY	Т	OTAL	H	IRED	F/	AMILY	Т	OTAL	н	IRED	F/	MILY	Т	DTAL	н	IRED	FA	MILY	Т	OTAL	н	RED	FA	MILY	Ť	OTAL
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Crop Farming & Gardening	11	26.2	3	5.8	14	14.9	13	28,9	1	2.9	14	17.7	9	56.3	13	27.7	22	34.9	1	7.7	4	22.2	5	16.1	34	29.3	21	13.9	55	20.6
Livestock & Poultry	0	0.0	5	9.6	5	5.3	O	0.0	1	2.9	1	1.3	o	0.0	1	2.1	1	1.6	o	0.0	0	0.0	o	0.0	0	0.0	7	4.6	7	2.6
Fishing	з	7.1	5	9,6	8	8.5	10	22.2	3	8.8	13	16.5	o	0.0	2	4.3	2	3.2	1	7.7	0	0.0	1	3.2	14	12.1	10	6.6	24	9.0
Manufacturing	9	21.4	12	23.1	21	22.3	1	2.2	э	8.8	4	5.1	4	25.0	14	29.8	18	28.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	14	12.1	29	19.2	43	16.1
Wholesale & Retail Trade	19	45 <i>2</i>	26	50.0	45	47.9	16	35.6	24	70.6	40	50.6	3	18.8	12	25.5	15	23.8	8	61.5	13	72.2	21	67.7	46	39.7	75	49.7	121	45.3
Other NonAgr'l Activities	o	0.0	1	1.9	1	1.1	5	11.1	2	5,9	7	8.9	o	0.0	5	10.6	5	7.9	3	23.1	1	5.6	4	42.9	8	6.9	9	6.0	17	6.4
TOTAL	42	100.0	52	100.0	94	100.0	45	100.0	34	100.0	79	100.0	16	100.0	47	100.0	63	100.0	13	100.0	18	100.0	31	100.0	116	100.0	151	100.0	267	100.0
L Source: DRD Sur Tab6-26.wk1	vey of	Rural H	louse	holds 1	992								·															]		

.
#### TABLE 6.27

### AVERAGE HOURS WORKED PER DAY IN HOUSEHOLD-BASED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES BY TYPE OF LABOR

ACTIVITY/		TOTAL			
TYPE OF LABOR	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL	
CROP FARMING Family Labor Hired Labor	6 7	5 9	5 10	3 0	5 8
LIVESTOCK & POULTRY RAISING Family Labor Hired Labor	7 0	4	4	0	5 0
FISHING Family Labor Hired Labor	8 7	4	4	0 8	6 7.5
MANUFACTURING Family Labor Hired Labor	8 0	9 0	9	0	8 0
WHOLESALE & RETAIL TRADE Family Labor Hired Labor	6 7	12 9	8 9	9	9 8.5
OTHER HOUSEHOLD-BASED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES Family Labor Hired Labor	5 0	4 12	7 0	8 8	6 9

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-27.wk1

#### TABLE 6.28

### EXPENDITURE PATTERN OF SURVEY HOUSEHOLDS (PAST WEEK)

PROPORTION SPENT ON (%)	ILOILO	NEGROS OCC.	CEBU	BOHOL
Food Consumed at Home	44.6	35.3	53.7	36.1
Fuel, Light & Water	9.8	8.7	9.7	7.2
Transportation & Communication	4.9	6.9	5.9	4.0
Household Operations	2.6	2.0	4.3	1.8
Personal Effects	2.5	2.6	3.9	1.5
Clothing & Footwear	6.1	7.6	8.0	3.7
Education	18.7	17.8	9.1	24.0
Recreation	0.3	_	0.5	-
Medical Care	10.4	18.8	4.6	20.4
Durables	0.1	_	_	_

Source: DRD Survey of Rural Households 1992 Tab6-28.wk1

### **DEFINITION OF VARIABLES**

VARIABLE	DEFINITION
LMPALL	Equals 1 if the individual participated in rural nonagricultural activities, and 0 otherwise
LMPML	Equals 1 if the male individual participated in nonagricultural activities, and 0 otherwise
LMPFL	Equals 1 if the female individual participated in nonagricultural activities, and 0 otherwise
WWAGE	Weeklywage
WWAGEM	Weekly wage, male
WWAGEF	Weekly wage, female
HRWD	Number of hours worked per week in nonagricultural jobs
HRWDM	Number of hours worked per week, male
HRWDF	Number of hours worked per week, female
WKWD	Number of weeks worked in nonagricultural jobs
WKWDM	Number of weeks worked, male
WKWDF	Number of weeks worked, female
AGE	Age in years (proxy for experience)
AGEQ	Age in years squared (proxy for experience)
EDUC1	Equals 1 if the individual has not attended primary
	school, and 0 otherwise, and is omitted
EDUC2	Equals 1 if the individual has only attended primary
	school, and 0 otherwise
EDUC3	Equals 1 if the individual has completed elementary
	and has attended high school, and 0 othewise.
EDUC4	Equals 1 if the individual has completed high school
	and has attended college, and 0 otherwise
EDUC5	Equals 1 if the individual has completed college
	or done post graduate training, and 0 otherwise

.

TABLE 7.1 (Continuation):

л. '

	Number of children lass (1), C	
CHI D14	Number of children less than 6 years of age	
CILD14	Number of children greater than or equal to 6 and	
NIMATE	less than or equal to 14 years of age	
INMALE	Number of other males in the household aged 15 years	
	to 65 years old	
NFEMAL	Number of other females in the household age 15 years	
NT DIG	to 65 years old	
NLINC	Non-labor income of the household	
NLINCQ	Non-labor income squared	
CS	Equals 1 if ht eindividual is married, and 0 otherwise	
LAND	Equals 1 if the individual's household owns land,	
	and 0 otherwise	
WORK1	Equals 1 if the individual's work is located in own	
	home or immediate neighborhood, and 0 otherwise	
WORK2	Equals 1 if the individual's work is located in	
	the same barangay of residence but beyond immediate	
	neighborhood, and 0 otherwise	
WORK3	Equals 1 if the individual's work is located in	
	different barangay but in the same municipality	
	of residence, and 0 otherwise	
WORK4	Equals 1 if the individual's work is located in	
	a different municipality but in the same province.	
	and 0 otherwise	
WORK5	Equals 1 if the individual's work is located in a	
	different province, and 0 otherwise	
WORK6	Equals 1 if the individual works at various locations	
	in the provice of residence, and 0 otherwise	
HHBUS	Equals 1 if the individual's household owns a	
	business (household-operated economic activity)	
	and 0 otherwise	
PWW	Predicted wage	
PWWM	Predicted wage, male	
PWWF	Predicted wage, female	
MILLS	Inverse of the Mills' ratio	

.

### MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS OF MAJOR VARIABLES

### PROBIT ESTIMATES: RURAL LABOR PARTICIPATION IN NONAGRICULTURAL ACTIVITIES (DRD Rural Household Survey, 1992)

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
Constant	-0.8801	0.5265	-1.1578
	(2.505) *	(1.023)	(2.343) *
AGE	0.0109	0.0052	0.0150
	(0.574)	(0.184)	(0.572)
AGEQ	0.1671	-0.0001	-0.0002
	(0.693)	(0.3681)	(0.578)
EDUC2	1.0684	0.7293	3.5756
	(1.494)	(0.922)	(0.068)
EDUC3	-0.0790	-0.1360	-0.0610
	(0.697)	(0.841)	(0.370)
EDUC4	0.1452	-0.1754	-0.1474
	(1.310)	(1.154)	(0.886)
EDUC5	0.0787	0.0808	0.0867
	(0.672)	(0.436)	(0.555)
CHILD6	0.0067	0.0120	0.0031
	(0.955)	(1.128)	(0.324)
CHLD14	-0.0103	-0.0164	0.0044
	(1.050)	(1.143)	(0.312)
NMALE	-0.0034	-0.0090	-0.0010
	(0.310)	(0.541)	(0.064)

\* Figures in parenthesis are t-statistics

## TABLE 7.3 (Continued):

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
NFEMAL	0.0068	0.0126	0.0023
	(0.539)	(0.665)	(0.129)
cs	0.0216	0.0743	-0.1350
	(0.214)	(0.456)	(0.995)
LAND	2.9240	2. <b>7</b> 986	2.6438
	(0.059)	(0.058)	(0.041)
WORK1	1.0276 *	0.7965 *	1.2243 *
	(6.257)	(3.281)	(5.307)
WORK2	1.5544 *	1.4439 *	1.6940 *
	(9.244)	(5.784)	(7.159)
WORK3	2.3875 *	1.9645 *	2.9029 *
	(12.657)	(7.391)	(10.094)
WORK4	1.8782 *	1.6621 *	2.0931 *
	(10.985)	(6.689)	(8.610)
WORK5	5.3106	4.9946	5.3331
	(0.067)	(0.073)	(0.048)
WORK6	5.2587	4.7681	5.5135
	(0.067)	(0.070)	(0.049)
HHBUS	1.3698 *	-1.4018 *	1.3483 *
	(3.846)	(2.288)	(3.025)
NLINC	-0.00001 **	-0.00001	-0.00001
	(1.782)	(1.299)	(1.226)
NLINCQ	1.7E-11 **	1.7E~11	2.1E-11
	(1.845)	(1.258)	(0.689)
N Non-Zero	1,482	698	778
Observations	1,101	529	567
Chi-Squared(21)	332.36	124.97	222.52

Figures in parenthesis are t-statistics \* Significant at 5 % \*\* Significant at 10 %

### SELECTIVITY CORRECTED WAGE EQUATIONS

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE -	FEMALE
Constant	66.894	17.458	48.085
	(0.232)	(0.047)	(0.124)
AGE	15.736 *	18.957 *	14.361 **
	(2.571)	(2.072)	(1.696)
AGEQ	-0.208 *	0.243 *	0.192 **
	(2.635)	(2.068)	(1.758)
EDUC2	163.660	-22.811	-304.250
	(1.036)	(0.099)	(1.401)
EDUC3	14.327	1.510	52.369
	(0.376)	(0.027)	(0.948)
EDUC4	24.382 (0.639)		61.713 (1.122)
EDUC5	14.295	-0.026	15.443
	(0.409)	(0.155)	(0.330)
CHILD6	-0.126	-29.220	-0.180
	(1.293)	(0.561)	(1.384)
CS	6.629	29.220	9.811
	(0.209)	(0.561)	(0.225)
LAND	186.930	156.500	188.790
	(0.995)	(0.514)	(0.774)

# TABLE 7.4 (Continuation):

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
WORK1	719.58 * (4.605)	- -770.38 * (4.204)	704.98 * (3.009)
WORK2	353.99 **	-426.15 **	346.16
	(1.768)	(1.649)	(1.252)
WORK3	359.11	-427.87	382.48
	(1.461)	(1.412)	(1.119)
WORK4	-295.95	-346.74	-324.85
	(1.333)	(1.242)	(1.062)
WORK5	198.46	-257.08	-205.02
	(0.500)	(0.461)	(0.379)
WORK6	1215.7 *	1313.1 *	1222.1 *
	(3.095)	(2.433)	(2.238)
MILLS		-231.31 (0.819)	131.67 (0.629)
Ν	1101	529	567
R -SQUARED	0.173	0.191	0.161

<u>.</u>.

Figures in parenthesis are t-statistics \* Significant at 5 % \*\* Significant at 10 %

### RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL LABOR SUPPLY EQUATIONS: DEPENDENT VARIABLE – HRWD

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
Constant	167.150 **	44.971	-414.540 *
	(1.727)	(0.313)	(3.093)
AGE	2.566	-10.063	14.445 **
	(0.445)	(1.155)	(1.827)
AGEQ	-0.049	0.109	-0.200 *
	(0.655)	(0.983)	(1.926)
CHILD6	1.607	0.841	-4.847 **
	(0.738)	(0.258)	(1.609)
CHLD14	3.489	2.905	4.652
	(1.145)	(0.653)	(1.076)
NMALE	1.554	1.375	3.154
	(0.460)	(0.270)	(0.659)
NFEMAL	-3.730	5.318	-3.252
	(0.967)	(0.918)	(0.594)

### TABLE 7.5 (Continuation):

.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
NLINC	-0.008 *	-0.009 *	-0.008 *
	(4.767)	(3.505)	(3.291)
NLINCQ	0.11E07 *	0.12E-07 *	0.11E07 *
	(5.002)	(3.661)	(3.455)
MILLS	146.840 *	202.270 *	123.690 *
	(7.541)	(6.187)	(4.420)
PWW	0.431 *	0.481 *	0.323 *
	(6.953)	(5.304)	(3.662)
cs	-0.554	42.577	-26.367
	(0.018)	(0.848)	(0.647)
LAND	203.920	221.840	218.810
	(0.980)	(0.677)	(0.797)
N	1,101	529	567
R-SQUARED	0.709	0.807	0.604

÷

Figures in parenthesis are t-statistics \* Significant at 5 % \*\* Significant at 10 %

#### RURAL NONAGRICULTURAL LABOR SUPPLY EQUATIONS: DEPENDENT VARIABLE - WKWD

ALL	MALE	FEMALE
	17.212 (1.439)	2.267 * (4.446)
2.505	0.826	0.053 **
(0.451)	(1.139)	<u>(</u> 1.755)
0.046	0.011	-0.008 *
(0.651)	(1.152)	(1.941)
-1.673	-0.066	-0.015
(0.798)	(0.242)	(1.304)
3.451	-0.034	0.019
(1.177)	(0.091)	(1.129)
1.412	0.384	0.04E-02
(0.434)	(0.907)	(0.021)
3.473	-0.289	-0.005
(0.935)	(0.600)	(0.258)
	ALL -199.690 * (2.147) 2.505 (0.451) -0.046 (0.651) -1.673 (0.798) 3.451 (1.177) 1.412 (0.434) -3.473 (0.935)	ALLMALE $-199.690 *$ $17.212$ $(2.147)$ $(1.439)$ $2.505$ $-0.826$ $(0.451)$ $(1.139)$ $-0.046$ $0.011$ $(0.651)$ $(1.152)$ $-1.673$ $-0.066$ $(0.798)$ $(0.242)$ $3.451$ $-0.034$ $(1.177)$ $(0.091)$ $1.412$ $0.384$ $(0.434)$ $(0.907)$ $-3.473$ $-0.289$ $(0.935)$ $(0.600)$

# TABLE 7.6 (Continuation):

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	ALL	MALE	FEMALE
NLINC	-0.008 *	-0.26Ĕ <b>-</b> 04	-0.31E-04*
	(4.796)	(0.119)	(3.218)
NLINCQ	0.11E-07 *	0.40E-10	0.41E-10*
	(5.035)	(0.150)	(3.386)
MILLS	141.200 *	3.814	0.520 *
	(7.535)	(1.402)	(4.882)
PWW	0.415 *	0.013 **	0.001 *
	(6.942)	(1.679)	(3.482)
cs	-2.237	-0.357	-0.078
	(0.076)	(0.085)	(0.505)
LAND	190.840	0.341	0.936
	(0.953)	(0.013)	(0.895)
N	1,101	529	567
R-SQUARED	0.708	0.834	0.604

Figures in parenthesis are t-statistics. \* Significant at 5 % \*\* Significant at 10 %

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahmad, Q. K. and M. U. Ahmed (1985). "A Review of Rural Nonfarm Economic Activities in Bangladesh." In Development and Diversification of Rural Industries in Asia. Edited by S. Mukhopadhyay and C. P. Lim. Asia and Pacific Development Center (APDC).
- Ahmed, R. and M. Hossain (1988). "Infrastructure and Development of a Rural Economy." International Food Policy and Research Institute (IFPRI), Washington, D.C. Mimeographed.
- Anderson, D. and M. W. Leiserson (1978). Rural Enterprise and Nonfarm Employment. World Bank, Washington, D.C.
  - (1980). "Rural Nonfarm Employment in Developing Countries." Economic **Development and Cultural Change**, Vol. 28,No. 1, pp. 227-248.
- Bardhan, Pranab K. (1979). "Labor Supply Function in a Post Agrarian Economy." The American Economic Review, Vol. 69, No. 1, pp. 73-83.
  - (1984). "Determinants of Supply and Demand for Labor in a Poor Agrarian Economy: An Analysis of Household Survey Data from Rural West Bengal." In Contractual Arrangements, Employment, and Wages in Rural Labor Markets. Edited by H. P. Binswanger and M. R. Rosenzweig. Yale University Press, Connecticut.
- Barnum, H. and L. Squire (1979). "An Econometric Application of the Theory of the Farm Household". Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 6, pp. 79-102.
- Bautista, E. D. (1988). "Rural Labor Market Adjustment to Differential Technical Change." Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University of the Philippines School of Economics.
- Bautista, G. M. (1986). "The Structure of Employment Opportunities in Three Philippines Villages." In Hired Labor and Rural Labor Markets in Asia. Edited by Hiroshima and Muqtada. pp.119-150. International Labor Organization - Asian Regional Team for Employment Promotion (ILO-ARTEP), New Delhi.

(1987). The Impact of Agricultural Changes on the Rural Labor Market in the Philippines. International Labor Organization - Asian Regional Team for Employment Promotion (ARTEP), New Delhi.

Barnum, H. and L. Squire (1979). A Model of an Agricultural Household. Washington, D.C.: World Bank, Occasional Paper 27.

- Bautista, R. M. (1971). "Dynamics of an Agrarian Model with Z-goods." Discussion Paper No. 71-4, The Institute of Economic Development and Research, School of Economics, University of the Philippines, Quezon City. February.
  - (1972). "Maximum-Speed Development in an Open Agrarian Economy with Z-Activities." Discussion Paper No. 72-23, The Institute of Economic Development and Research, School of Economics, University of the Philippines.
  - (1990). "Rapid Agricultural Growth is not Enough: The Philippines, 1965-1980." A paper prepared for a conference on "Agriculture on the Road to Industrialization." sponsored by IFPRI and the Council of Agriculture of the Republic of China, September 4-7. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Washington, D.C.
- Bhati, U. N. (1978). "An Analysis of Aggregate Labor Demand and Supply Relationships for Australian Agriculture." Quarterly Review of Agricultural Economics, Vol. 31, pp. 106-123.
- Binswanger, H. and M. Rosenzweig, eds. (1984). Contractual Arrangement, Employment and Wages in Rural Labor Markets in Asia. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1984.
- Chaudhry, M. G. (1985). "The State and Development of Rural Industries in Pakistan." In **Development and Diversification of Rural Industries in Asia.** Edited by Mukhopadyay and Lim. Asian and Pacific Development Center (APDC), Kuala Lumpur.
- Chinn, Dennis L. (1979). "Rural Poverty and the Structure of Farm Household Income in Developing Countries: Evidence from Taiwan." Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 283-301.
- Choe, Yang-Boo (1986). "M-Cycle Hypothesis, Nonfarm Activities and Rural Industries in Korea." In Rural Industrialization and Nonfarm Activities of Asian Farmers. Edited by Y. Chloe and F. Chen Lo. Korea Rural Economics Institute and Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
  - and F. Chen Lo, eds. (1986). Rural Industrialization and Nonfarm Activities of Asian Farmers. Korea Rural Economics Institute and Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
- Chuta, E. and C. Liedholm (1979). "Rural Nonfarm Employment: A Review of the State of the Art." Rural Development Paper No.4, Michigan State University, East Lansing.
- Deolalikar, A. and W. Vijverberg (1983). "The Heterogeneity of Family and Hired Labor in Agricultural Production: A Test Using District Level Data from India," Journal of Economic Development, Vol. 55, No. 4, pp. 954-959.

- Evans and Lewis (1986). "Demand, Supply and Adjustment of Farm Labor in Australia." Australia Economic Paper, Vol.25, No.47, December, pp. 236-246.
- Evenson, R. E. and H. P. Binswanger (1984). "Estimating Labor Demand Function for Indian Agriculture." In Contractual Arrangement, Employment, and Wages in Rural Labor Markets. Edited by H. P. Binswanger and M. R. Rosenzweig. Yale University Press, Connecticut.
- Fabella, R. V. (1985). "Rural Industry and Modernization." In The Rural Nonfarm Sector in Asia. Edited by Mukhopadhyay and Lim. Asian and Pacific Development Center (APDC), Kuala Lumpur.
- Gibb, A. (1974). "Agricultural Modernization, Non-farm Employment and Low-Level Urbanization: A Case Study of a Central Luzon Sub-Region of the Philippines." Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.
- Haggblade, S. and P. Hazell (1989). "Agricultural Technology and Farm- Non-Farm Growth Linkages." Agricultural Economics, Vol. 3, pp. 345-364.

and J. Brown (1989). "Farm-Non-Farm Linkages in Rural Sub-Saharan Africa." World Development, Vol. 17, No. 8, pp. 1173-1201.

- Hazell, P. R. and A. Roell (1983). "Rural Growth Linkages: Household Expenditure Patterns in Malaysia and Nigeria." Research Report No. 41, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), September,. Washington, D. C.
- Hazell, P. R. (1984). "Rural Growth Linkages and Rural Development Strategy." A paper prepared for the Fourth European Congress of Agricultural Economists, Kiel, Germany, September 3-7. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Washington, D.C.
  - and S. Haggblade (1990). "Rural-Urban Growth Linkages in India." A background paper prepared for the 1991 Country Economic Memorandum for India, March 31.
- Heckman, J. (1974). "Shadow Prices, Market Wages and Labor Supply." Econometrica, Vol. 42, No. 4, July, pp. 679-694.
- Hirashima, S. and M. Muqtada, eds. (1986). Rural Industrialization and Nonfarm Activities of Asian Farmers. Korea Rural Economics Institute and Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
- Hirschman, A. O. (1958). The Strategy of Economic Development. Yale University Press, Connecticut.
- Ho, S. (1979). "Decentralized Industrialization and Rural Development: Evidence from Taiwan." Economic Development and Cultural Change.

- Huffman, W. E. (1980). "Farm and Off-farm Work Decisions: The Role of Human Capital." Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 62, pp. 14-23.
- Hymer, S. and S. Resnick (1969). " A Model of an Agrarian Economy with Non-agricultural Activities." The American Economic Review, Vol. 50, pp. 493-506.
- Islam, R. (1987). Rural Industrialization and Employment in Asia: Issues and Evidence. International Labor Organization Asian Employment Programme, New Delhi.
- Jacoby, H. G. (1990). Shadow Wages and Peasant Family Labor Supply: An Econometric Application to the Peruvian Sierra. LSLS Working Paper No. 73, World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Lamberte, M. B. et al. (1993). Decentralization and Prospects \for Regional Growth. Philippine Institute for Development Studies.
- Lee, J. E. Jr. (1965). "Allocating Farm Resources Between Farm and Non-Farm Uses." Journal of Farm Economics, Vol. 47 February, pp. 83-92.
- Liedholm, C. (1988). "The Role of Nonfarm Activities in the Rural Economies of the Asia-Pacific Region." A paper prepared for a conference on "Directions and Strategies of Agricultural Development in the Asia-Pacific Region" in Taipe, Taiwan, January.
- Medalla, F. (1986). "Off-Farm Incomes of Farm Households in the Philippines." University of the Philippines School of Economics, Mimeographed.
- Mukhopadhyay, S. and Chee Peng Lim (1985). "Rural Non-farm Activities in the Asian Region: An Overview." In The Rural Non farm Sector in Asia. Edited by Mukhopadhyay and Lim, Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
- Narongchai, A. et al. (1981). Rural Off-farm Employment in Thailand. Industrial Management Company, Ltd., Bangkok.
- Oshima, H. T. (1984). "The Significance of Off-farm Employment and Incomes in Post-War East Asian Growth." Asian Development Bank Economic Staff Paper No. 21.
  - (1986). "Levels and Trends of Farm Families' Non agricultural Income at Different Stages of Monsoon Development." In Rural Industrialization and Nonfarm Activity of Asian Farmers. Edited by Choe and Fuchen-Lo. Korea Rural Economics Institute and Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
- Ranis, G. and F. Stewart (1987). "Rural Linkages in the Philippines and Taiwan." In Macro Policies for Appropriate Technology in Developing Countries. Edited by F. Stewart. Westview Press, Boulder.

and E. Reyes (1989). "Linkages in Development: A Philippine Case Study." PIDS Working Paper Series No. 89-02. Philippine Institute for Development Studies, Makati.

- Rao, B. S. (1985). Rural Industrialization and Rural Nonfarm Employment in India." In **Development and Diversification of Rural Industries in Asia**. Edited by Mukhopadhyay and Lim. Asian and Pacific Development Center, Kuala Lumpur.
- Resnick, S. (1971). "The Decline of Rural Industry Under Export Expansion: A Comparison Among Burma, Philippines, and Thailand, 1870-1938." Journal of Economic History, Vol. 30, pp.51 73.
- Reyes, E. A. (1991). "The Role of Rural Nonfarm Employment in Philippine Development." PIDS Working Paper Series No. 91-04. Philippine Institute for Development Studies, Makati.
- Rosenzweig, M. R. (1978). "Rural Wages, Labor Supply and Land Reform: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis." American Economic Review, Vol. 48, pp. 847-861.

\_\_\_\_\_(1980). "Neoclassical Theory and the Optimizing Peasant: An Econometric Analysis of Market Family Labor Supply in a Developing Country." Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 95, No. 1, February, pp. 31-55.

- Sanchez, M. T. (1991). Rural Labor Markets, Rural Nonfarm Enterprises and Agrarian Reform in the Philippines: A Review of Literature. Working Paper Series No. 91-17, Philippine Institute for Development Studies.
- Shand, R. T. ed. (1986). Off-farm Employment in the Development of Rural Asia. National Center for Development Studies, Australian National University.
- Singh, I., L. Squire and J. Strauss (1985). Agricultural Household Models: A Survey of Recent Findings and Their Policy Implications. Center Discussion Paper No. 474, Economic Growth Center, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut.
- Stanford, L. and A. M. Mandac (1984). "Off-farm and Nonfarm Income in Rainfed Rice Production in Camarines Sur." A paper prepared for the workshop to Review Selected Research to Increase Rice Production in the Bicol River Basin Area, Bicol River Basin Development Program Office (BRBDPO), San Jose, Pili, Camarines Sur.
- Stevens, R. D. and C. L. Jabara (1988). Agricultural Development Principles: Economic Theory and Empirical Evidence. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Strauss, J. (1984). An Overview of Agricultural Household Models: Empirical Applications. Center Discussion Paper No.451, Economic Growth Center, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut.